

# Replacement of current opioid drugs focusing on MOR-related strategies

Jérôme Busserolles, Stéphane Lolignier, Nicolas Kerckhove, Célian Bertin,

Nicolas Authier, Alain Eschalier

### ▶ To cite this version:

Jérôme Busserolles, Stéphane Lolignier, Nicolas Kerckhove, Célian Bertin, Nicolas Authier, et al.. Replacement of current opioid drugs focusing on MOR-related strategies. Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2020, 210, pp.107519. 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2020.107519. hal-03490336

## HAL Id: hal-03490336 https://hal.science/hal-03490336v1

Submitted on 22 Aug 2022

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial 4.0 International License

#### P&T #23447

#### Replacement of current opioid drugs focusing on MOR-related strategies

Jérôme Busserolles<sup>1,2</sup>, Stéphane Lolignier<sup>1,2</sup>, Nicolas Kerckhove<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Célian Bertin<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Nicolas Authier<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Alain Eschalier<sup>1,2,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Université Clermont Auvergne, INSERM, CHU, NEURO-DOL Pharmacologie Fondamentale et Clinique de la douleur, F-63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France.

<sup>2</sup>Institut ANALGESIA, Faculté de Médecine, F-63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France.

<sup>3</sup>Observatoire Français des Médicaments Antalgiques (OFMA) / French monitoring centre for analgesic drugs, CHU, F-63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France.

\*Corresponding author: Alain Eschalier, UMR Neuro-Dol, Faculté de Médecine, 28 place Henri Dunant, 63000 Clermont-Ferrand. 33-473178230; alain.eschalier@uca.fr.

#### • Abstract

The scarcity and limited risk/benefit ratio of painkillers available on the market, in addition to the opioid crisis, warrant reflection on new innovation strategies. The pharmacopoeia of analgesics is based on products that are often old and derived from clinical empiricism, with limited efficacy or spectrum of action, or resulting in an unsatisfactory tolerability profile. Although they are reference analgesics for nociceptive pain, opioids are subject to the same criticism. The use of opium as an analgesic is historical. Morphine was synthesized at the beginning of the 19<sup>th</sup> century. The efficacy of opioids is limited in certain painful contexts and these drugs can induce potentially serious and fatal adverse effects. The current North American opioid crisis, with an ever-rising number of deaths by opioid overdose, is a tragic illustration of this. It is therefore legitimate to develop research into molecules likely to maintain or increase opioid efficacy while improving their tolerability. Several avenues are being explored including targeting of the mu opioid receptor (MOR) splice variants, developing biased agonists or targeting of other receptors such as heteromers with MOR. Ion channels acting as MOR effectors, are also targeted in order to offer compounds without MOR-dependent adverse effects. Another route is to develop opioid analgesics with peripheral action or limited central nervous system (CNS) access. Finally, endogenous opioids used as drugs or compounds that modify the metabolism of endogenous opioids (Dual ENKephalinase Inhibitors) are being developed. The aim of the present review is to present these various targets/strategies with reference to current indications for opioids, concerns about their widespread use, particularly in chronic non-cancer pains, and ways of limiting the risk of opioid abuse and misuse.

• *Keywords:* analgesia, mu opioid receptors (MORs), opioid adverse side effects, opioid abuse and misuse, opioid receptor signaling, innovative targets.

## • Table of Contents:

1.	Introduction	5
2.	Current use of opioid drugs	6
2	2.1 Traditional indications for opioid drugs	6
2	2.2 Opioid drugs in chronic noncancer pain	7
2	2.3 Concerns about opioid use in chronic noncancer pain	8
3.	Research to replace current opioid drugs	11
3	3.1 Strategies based on MOR and its effectors	11
	3.1.1 Targeting MOR splice variants	12
	3.1.2 Biased MOR agonists	14
	3.1.3 Drugs acting on MOR effectors	18
	3.1.3.1 MOR downstream cellular signaling	18
	3.1.3.2 Ion channels effectors of the MOR	19
	3.1.3.2.1 Voltage-dependent calcium channels	19
	3.1.3.2.2 Sodium channels	21
	3.1.3.2.3 Transient receptor potential channels	22
	3.1.3.2.4 Potassium channels	23
	3.1.4 Peripherally acting MOR agonists	25
	3.1.5 Other strategies	27
3	3.2 Strengthening endogenous opioid mediators	30
	3.2.1 Reducing enkephalin degradation	31
	3.2.2 Using endogenous opioids as drugs	33
4.	Can we limit abuse and misuse as factors contributing to opioid use disorder?	34
5.	Conclusion	36
6.	References	42

#### • Abbreviations:

APN: AminoPeptidase N CNCP: Chronic NonCancer Pain DENKI: Dual ENKephalinase Inhibitor GPCR: G Protein-Coupled Receptor MOR: Mu-Opioid Receptor NEP: Neutral EndoPeptidase (neprilysin) **OR:** Opioid Receptor VDCCs: Voltage-Dependent Calcium Channels DOR: Delta-Opioid Receptor KOR: Kappa-Opioid Receptor Oprm1: OPioid Receptor Mu 1 KO: Knock-Out PKA: Protein Kinase A TRPV1: Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid type 1 TRPM3: Transient Receptor Potential Melastatin type 3 GIRK: G protein-coupled Inwardly-Rectifying potassium

# **1. Introduction**

The pharmacopoeia of analgesics is old and has not been improved on for several years. However, the epidemiology of pain is now well-defined and several studies have concluded, for example, that the prevalence of chronic pain in the general adult population is around 30% depending on the country (Bouhassira et al., 2008; Breivik et al., 2006; Chenaf et al., 2018; Kuehn, 2018; Macfarlane, 2016) and even higher in elderly subjects. There is therefore a gap between the state of the pharmacopoeia with very limited conceptual innovations and a public health need exacerbated by the fact that there is no effective treatment for several pain syndromes. This worrying situation is aggravated by the increasingly questionable benefit/risk ratio of several classes of analgesics currently on the market. In this regard, the opioid crisis, caused by the propensity of opioids to induce dependence and death and that affects several countries, in particular the United States and Canada, illustrates the very delicate situation we find ourselves in. If we: 1) place limitations on the use of certain analgesics (e.g., codeine in children); 2) question the safety and benefit/risk ratio of paracetamol, an issue raised by several studies; 3) take into account the adverse effects induced by nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs due to their action on prostaglandin synthesis; and 4) consider the limited number of alternative analgesics available, we ultimately place the drug management of pain in a very uncomfortable position. Therapists cannot help but be confused given that the therapeutic drug resources at their disposal are unsatisfactory and patients can find themselves in genuine impasses despite the fact that non-drug therapies can be of help to them.

In parallel with this difficult situation, research on the physiology and pathophysiology of pain is prolific. It has provided new knowledge of the molecular mechanisms involved in the detection, transmission and modulation of pain messages and the pathophysiological hypotheses proposed. The ever-increasing number of basic and clinical research publications reflects this dynamic. There is therefore a significant discrepancy between this evolution of knowledge and the more than modest design of new drugs, as exemplified by the opioid family. While basic research has made it possible to identify their site of action, identify endogenous opioid systems and characterize their clinical effects, no substitute has replaced these drugs, whose adverse effects, which limit their benefit/risk ratio, have long been clearly known.

In this context, the first aim of this review article is to provide an analysis of the current use of opioids as analgesics, by focusing on the difficulties revealed by the opioid crisis. We will then give an overview of the different research prospects regarding concepts and/or compounds that could provide substitutes for opioids, with the hope of a better benefit/risk ratio, and strategies to limit abuse and misuse. Among the three mu, delta and kappa opioid receptors (MORs, DORs, KORs) identified (Goldstein & Naidu, 1989), the pharmacological perspectives analyzed in this article will focus on MORs because all the opioids currently in clinical use (with the exception of nalbuphine and pentazocine) activate these receptors, which participate in analgesia but also in opioid-induced adverse effects.

# 2. Current use of opioid drugs

## 2.1 Traditional indications for opioid drugs

Opioids have been consumed since 3,000 BC, when opium was already used to reduce pain. Today, opium powder is still available but original molecules that act as MOR agonists are widely used. They include morphine, first synthesized in the 19<sup>th</sup> century, codeine, pethidine, levorphanol, fentanyl and its derivatives, oxycodone, hydrocodone, hydromorphone, methadone, buprenorphine, tramadol and tapentadol. The usual indications for opioid analgesics were moderate-to-severe nociceptive pains such as per- and postoperative pain, post-traumatic pain, hyperalgesic attacks and cancer pain. The last indication prompted the World Health Organization's proposal in 1987 for a scale (adapted in 1997) to optimize the management of these pain conditions. The clear and circumscribed indications gave opioid drugs a key position as a reference within the pharmacopoeia for nociceptive pains more or less limited to opioids, paracetamol and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.

## 2.2 Opioid drugs in chronic non-cancer pain

Traditionally, the administration of opioids did not include certain types of pain, in particular chronic non-cancer pain (CNCP), whether nociceptive, neuropathic, nociplastic or mixed. The prevalence of chronic pain (overwhelmingly CNCP) ranges from 20 to 46% according to the study, the method used and the country [(Macfarlane, 2016), UK; (Eriksen et al., 2003), Denmark; (Boulanger et al., 2007), Canada; (Bouhassira et al., 2008; Chenaf et al., 2018), France)]. In 2016, 50 million (20.4%) adults in the United States were living with chronic pain (Dahlhamer et al., 2018). This high prevalence, the desire to reduce pain and the societal pressure of dealing with it have led to an increase in the use of opioids. Their use in CNCP was initially supported by retrospective report of Portenoy and Foley (Portenoy & Foley, 1986), who considered that opioids could behave like universal analgesics given their efficacy in acute and cancer pain. In the 1990s, Melzack (Melzack, 1990) stated that "what seems less understandable is that many people suffer not because their discomfort is untreatable but because physicians are often reluctant to prescribe morphine", adding, however, in the same article, "I do not suggest that morphine be prescribed indiscriminately". Thus, at that time, some authors called for the long-term use of opioids to be reconsidered, because there was a therapeutic benefit and that the risks were fewer than suggested. This contributed to the liberalization of opioid use and the extension of its prescription for CNCP. A study conducted among members of the Intractable Pain Society in the United Kingdom concluded that 62% of doctors prescribed opioids in CNCP, mainly because of the failure of other treatments (Coniam, 1989). In another study (Turk et al., 1994), 1,912 U.S. physicians from seven medical specialties were surveyed on their long-term prescription of opioids. Prescription was relatively infrequent but widespread among specialties, with family practitioners and rheumatologists being the two most likely physicians to prescribe long-term opioids. Most of the respondents expressed relatively little concern about dependence and addiction as impediments to prescribing opioids. Societal pressure was illustrated by press reports such as the front page of the U.S. News and World Report of the March 1, 1997 issue, "No excuse for pain. Doctors have the means at hand to relieve the suffering of millions of Americans. Why aren't they doing it?" This incentive to prescribe opioids has continued and led to the so-called "opioid crisis", which is probably multifactorial. It is the result of: 1) growing consideration for CNCP patients' complaints because of the major impact of pain on their quality of life (Dueñas et al., 2016; Rummans et al., 2018), and the lack of innovative therapies in this area, and 2) aggressive pharmaceutical marketing (Dasgupta et al., 2018). Opioids were thus prescribed for chronic pain over the long-term and at high doses, leading to the inflation of prescriptions and associated risks (Chou et al., 2009; Häuser et al., 2017; Shipton et al., 2018).

## 2.3 Concerns about opioid use in chronic non-cancer pain

For many years, the long-term use of opioids in the treatment of CNCP was considered as inappropriate and the literature suggested that it was a controversial practice (see (Turk et al., 1994). This was due to the risks associated with the long-term use of opioids and doubts about their efficacy against CNCP, along with the fact that the management of these patients could not be limited to drug treatment alone but required the use of psycho-behavioral and social approaches to help them cope with pain rather than taking it away.

The risks of opioids are pharmacologically predictable as they are linked to their agonist action on MOR, which means that their adverse effects cannot be dissociated from their therapeutic analgesic effect, which is also dependent on MOR activation (Matthes et al., 1996). These adverse effects (constipation, nausea, vomiting and sedation with a high daily incidence, respiratory depression, tolerance, and dependence, whose epidemiology has worsened with the extension of opioid use for CNCP) clearly alter the benefit/risk ratio of currently available opioid analgesics. However, while other adverse effects exist (pruritus, immunosuppression, etc.), it is the issue of tolerance, dependence and prescription opioid use disorder, which can lead to unintentional intoxication (so-called overdose), that is the most problematic today, making the search for alternatives to opioids more pressing. Thus, tolerance to the analgesic effect of opioids implies that the amount of drug required to elicit pain relief must be increased to maintain analgesia. Consequently, patients increase doses (often by self-medication), which in turn leads to an increased risk of the other side effects, including prescription opioid use disorder and overdose (impaired consciousness and respiratory depression).

The efficacy of opioids in CNCP was debated at an early stage by certain authors owing to the lack of evidence from therapeutic trials (Large & Schug, 1995). Since then, a significant number of studies have been conducted on patients with CNCP, with varying results. In addition, numerous guidelines for the use of opioids for these patients have been published regularly (in different countries and languages), reflecting both the desire to manage the treatments and the caution or concern of the medical profession (Chapman et al., 2010; Cheung et al., 2016; Häuser et al., 2014; Ho et al., 2013; Kahan, Mailis-Gagnon, et al., 2011; Kahan, Wilson, et al., 2011; E. Kalso, 1999; Eija Kalso et al., 2003; Eija Kalso, 2005; Manchikanti, Abdi, et al., 2012b, 2012a; Manchikanti et al., 2017; Petzke, 2015; Reinecke et al., 2009; "The use of opioids for the treatment of chronic pain. A consensus statement from the American Academy of Pain Medicine and the American Pain Society," 1997; Trescot et al., 2006, 2008). It is not the aim of this review to discuss all the work on the efficacy of opioids for CNCP, rather we prefer to give a summary of findings by referring to two recent

meta-analyses (Busse et al., 2018; Reinecke et al., 2015). The study of Reinecke et al (3,647 citations screened, 46 selected randomized clinical trials involving 10,742 patients comparing opioids and non-opioids with placebo, physiotherapy and psychotherapy) concluded that, "Our assessment of maximum efficacy showed no significant differences between opioids and other pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments [...] thus, opioids alone are inappropriate and multimodal treatment programs may be required for CNCP". Busse at al. (2018) performed an extensive meta-analysis (96 randomized clinical trials and 26,169 patients with CNCP: neuropathic or nociceptive pain or with pain present in the absence of tissue damage) comparing opioids and any non-opioid control (drugs or placebo). They concluded that, "Evidence from high-quality studies showed that opioid use was associated with statistically significant but small improvements in pain and physical functioning, and increased risk of vomiting compared with placebo [...], comparisons of opioids with nonopioid alternatives suggested that the benefit for pain and functioning may be similar". They also showed that opioids were associated with less pain relief during longer trials (potentially without any difference from placebo at 6 months) and suggested that this could be the result of opioid tolerance or opioid-induced hyperalgesia.

Given these data, the comments of Large and Schug (Large & Schug, 1995) were particularly relevant and premonitory. They wondered if the use of opioids for CNCP was "caring or crippling" and asked the question: "Will prescribing liberate the patient from pain and extend autonomy, or will it cripple the patient with an additional burden of drug dependence?". Today, in line with the U.S. government's efforts to rein in the use of the narcotics that spawned the drug epidemic, the Food and Drug Administration will require drug companies to study whether prescription opioids are effective in quelling chronic pain, although some consider the available data to be sufficient.

Thus, opioid indications remain primarily for moderate-to-severe acute pain and nociceptive cancer pain. The benefit of their long-term use in CNCP is not convincing. This, in addition to their adverse effects, some of which are potentially serious, warrant the development of research to replace MOR exogenous opioid agonists with innovative compounds that ensure a better benefit/risk ratio.

# 3. Research to replace current opioid drugs

Many fundamental studies have aimed at proposing new analgesic concepts. Unfortunately, these efforts have not, to date, resulted in the introduction of new drugs that are conceptually different from existing products. The last conceptually original analgesic marketed was ziconotide in the late 1990s. However, research has continued, including work aimed at finding substitutes for opioids with the hope of coming up with compounds that are as effective but better tolerated. Two key strategies inspired by the endogenous opioid neurotransmission system have been developed to achieve this objective. They are focused on MOR, a target for both the analgesic and adverse effects of opioid drugs, with the aim of designing products that are free of mu-dependent adverse effects and on endogenous opioids with the aim of strengthening them or using them as drugs.

## 3.1 Strategies based on MOR and its effectors

Innovation in this context must aim at designing compounds to retain the therapeutic analgesic benefit of opioid drugs while limiting or even eliminating the risk of opioid-like adverse effects. To achieve this end, different strategies have been proposed, such as selective activation of MOR splice variants that are preferentially involved in analgesia, and biased activation of MOR towards analgesia-mediating intracellular pathways. Alternatively, targeting MOR at the periphery or designing compounds with a limited ability to cross the blood brain barrier would make it possible to reduce the adverse effects originating in the central nervous system (CNS). Finally, the identification of several ion channels modulated downstream of MOR and important for the analgesic effect of opioids could open up new pharmacological perspectives for achieving analgesia independently of opioid receptors.

#### 3.1.1 Targeting MOR splice variants

Alternative splicing is a genetic mechanism that allows the production of different proteins from a single gene. Regulated exon skipping during the maturation of pre-messenger RNA results in a set of mature RNAs coding for different protein isoforms. Many MOR splice variants have been identified, and the presence of two different promoters in the associated *Oprm1* gene, located upstream of exons 1 and 11, adds to the complexity and diversity of MOR variants.

In mice, rats and humans at least, the *Oprm1* gene codes for three classes of splice variants (Pasternak & Pan, 2013) (**Figure 1**). Transcription driven by exon 1 promoter produces a variety of full-length MOR receptors, sharing the first three *Oprm1* exons which code the seven transmembrane (TM) domains and the receptor's binding pocket. These 7TM variants therefore differ only by their intracellular C-terminal tail. In parallel, transcription from exon 1 also produces a class of short proteins containing only a single TM domain (1TM) with various C-termini. The third class of *Oprm1* variants is produced through exon 11-driven transcription. The resulting proteins are 6TM, which lack the first TM domain coded by exon 1. Both their N- and C-terminals are intracellular with varying sequences.

In mice, the expression of these variants has been detected in the spinal cord and DRG and in the brain, with considerable variations between regions (J. Xu et al., 2014). Interestingly, variations have been observed between mice strains with different susceptibilities to opioid tolerance and dependence, and chronic morphine administration resulted in profound remodeling of *Oprm1* variant expression patterns, affecting both promoters (J. Xu et al., 2015).

Insight into the physiological relevance of 1TM, 6TM and 7TM variants was first obtained by comparing different *Oprm1* knock-out (KO) mice strains. In exon 2 KO, lacking both 6TM and 7TM variants, the complete loss of morphine-induced analgesia, withdrawal syndrome and reward effect were observed (Matthes et al., 1996). Morphine also loses its analgesic effect in exon 1 KO mice, which lack 1TM and 7TM variants, showing the importance of full-length receptors for morphine-induced analgesia (Schuller et al., 1999). 7TM variants all share the same binding pocket but their C-terminal tails vary, which confers them different biases towards βarrestin 2 recruitment and different susceptibilities to desensitization (Tanowitz et al., 2008). As a result, they have been involved to varying degrees in tolerance, reward and physical dependence on morphine (J. Xu et al., 2017). In parallel, 1TM variants are unlikely able to bind opioids. Yet, their expression contributes to morphine-induced analgesia (J. Xu et al., 2013). The co-expression of different 1TM variants with the 7TM MOR-1 variant increases protein expression of the latter and decreases its ubiquitination. The two proteins dimerize in the endoplasmic reticulum, and it has been suggested that the shorter variant acts as a chaperone to stabilize MOR-1.

Among the huge contributions of GW Pasternak and his collaborators to our knowledge of MOR splice variants, their most interesting work, at least regarding pharmacological perspectives, is undoubtedly that on 6TM variants. These receptors also play a role in opioid-induced analgesia, since in exon 11 KO mice, which lack only 6TM variants, the analgesic activity of heroin and buprenorphine is lost. Morphine, on the other hand, retains its analgesic potency in these mice (Grinnell et al., 2016; Pan et al., 2009). More insight was provided by the characterization of IBNtxA (3-iodobenzoyl-6 $\beta$ -naltrexamide), a naltrexone derivative with

13

a high analgesic potency in naive, inflamed and neuropathic animals (Majumdar et al., 2011; Wieskopf et al., 2014). This effect, which is additive to that of morphine and blocked by naloxone at high doses only, is dependent on 6TM receptors, as evidenced by the complete loss of IBNtxA binding in the brain and analgesic potency in exon 11 MOR KO. In contrast, IBNtxA remains analgesic in exon 1 MOR/DOR/KOR triple KO mice (in which all opioid receptors are KO except for 6TM MORs). Furthermore, the loss of the analgesic effect of IBNtxA in a complete MOR KO targeting both exon 1 and exon 11 can be restored by lentiviral-driven expression of the mMOR-1G 6TM variant (Lu et al., 2015). 6TM variants are therefore necessary and sufficient for IBNtxA-induced analgesia. IBNtxA does not induce respiratory depression in mice and rats at supra-analgesic doses, and induces less constipation than morphine (Lu et al., 2015; Majumdar et al., 2011). IBNtxA induces a significantly reduced physical dependence compared to morphine, as evidenced by naloxone precipitated withdrawal and a conditioned place preference test showed no reward effect. Animals developed analgesic tolerance to IBNtxA, albeit more slowly than with morphine, and no cross-tolerance with morphine was observed. Although the analgesic effect of 6TM activation by IBNtxA has yet to be understood and confirmed in humans (no clinical study is currently ongoing), pharmacological targeting of these MOR splice variants represents a promising strategy for the development of safer opioids.

#### 3.1.2 Biased MOR agonists

The simplistic view of ligand-receptor interaction was challenged 15 years ago with the discovery of ligand-directed signaling, also called functional selectivity or biased agonism (Galandrin et al., 2007). After opioid binding and G protein activation, MOR is phosphorylated, primarily by G protein-coupled receptor kinase (Benovic et al., 1986), which enhances  $\beta$  arrestin binding to the receptor (**Figure 2A**).  $\beta$  arrestin was first discovered owing

to its role in mediating receptor desensitization (Lohse et al., 1990) and internalization (Goodman et al., 1996). The finding that they can mediate G protein-independent cellular signaling downstream of G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) (Violin & Lefkowitz, 2007) made it possible to identify and design "biased" ligands, i.e. molecules that can preferentially trigger G protein-dependent and not βarrestin-dependent signaling and thus prompt different physiological and pharmacological outcomes (Figure 2B). This insight has opened up a promising avenue for the design of GPCR-targeted therapeutics with an improved benefit-risk ratio. Regarding opioid receptors, seminal studies performed on naive ßarrestin 2 KO animals suggest that the inhibition of Barrestin 2 function could lead to the enhanced analgesic efficacy of morphine with reduced adverse side effects, namely no or delayed analgesic tolerance and less constipation and respiratory depression (L. M. Bohn et al., 1999, 2000; Laura M. Bohn et al., 2002; Raehal et al., 2005). These studies strongly supported the hypothesis that compounds that do not recruit βarrestin 2 may prove to be safer than current clinical opioids. However, it has been observed that morphine-induced hypothermia and conditioned place preference were enhanced in βarrestin 2 KO (L. M. Bohn et al., 1999; Laura M. Bohn et al., 2003).

Molecules promoting signaling through the  $G\alpha_i$  protein over  $\beta$ arrestin, such as TRV130 (oliceridine), have shown an analgesic effect in animal studies as potent as that of morphine and with attenuated adverse side effects, such as respiratory depression and gastrointestinal dysfunction (DeWire et al., 2013). It should be noted, however, that oliceridine has abuse-related effects and undesirable constipation in rodents (Altarifi et al., 2017; Austin Zamarripa et al., 2018; Liang et al., 2018). PZM21, a molecule structurally unrelated to prototypical MOR agonists such as morphine, is another potent  $G\alpha_i$  activator with high selectivity for MOR and minimal  $\beta$ arrestin2 recruitment. It was initially shown to strengthen the affective component of analgesia versus the reflexive component and to be devoid of both respiratory

depression and morphine-like reinforcing activity in mice receiving equianalgesic doses of morphine, while inducing slightly less constipation than that due to morphine (Manglik et al., 2016). A re-examination study of the signaling profile of PZM21 and its ability to depress respiration concluded that PZM21 was a low efficacy agonist for both  $G\alpha_i$  activation and  $\beta$ arrestin recruitment and that it significantly depressed respiration in a manner similar to an equi-antinociceptive dose of morphine in mice (Hill et al., 2018). It has also recently been shown that both PZM21 and oliceridine induce other adverse side effects such as opioid-induced hyperalgesia, and hyperalgesic priming, which is a model of transition to chronic pain (Araldi et al., 2018; Kandasamy & Price, 2015).

The initial postulate that molecules exerting preferential coupling and activation of  $G\alpha_i$ protein over βarrestin would have an analgesic effect as potent as that of morphine and attenuated adverse side effects, such as respiratory depression and gastrointestinal dysfunction, therefore needs to be refined. It has not been directly demonstrated that βarrestin does in fact mediate the respiratory adverse effects of opioids in mice (Schmid et al., 2017). In addition, there is evidence that respiratory depression also involves MOR coupling to GIRK channels via the activation of  $G\alpha_{i/o}$  proteins (Montandon et al., 2016). The compensatory recruitment of ßarrestin 1 observed in ßarrestin 2 KO mice could be involved in the modified pharmacological (analgesic or adverse) effects of morphine initially observed in βarrestin 2 KO mice. Recently, enhanced opioid-induced analgesia and diminished analgesic tolerance were observed in knock-in mice with a series of serine- and threonine-to-alanine mutations that render MOR unable to recruit ßarrestin. Surprisingly, respiratory depression, constipation, and opioid withdrawal signs were unchanged or exacerbated, indicating that Barrestin recruitment does not contribute to the severity of opioid adverse effects, thus predicting that G-protein-biased µ-agonists are still likely to elicit severe adverse effects (Kliewer et al., 2019). More work is therefore needed to decipher which signaling pathway

should be targeted over others in order to improve the benefit-risk ratio of biased MOR agonists. The recent design of a panel of novel MOR ligands whose signaling properties activate to various degrees either G protein or  $\beta$ arrestin (Schmid et al., 2017) and the use of a refined methodology (Ehrlich et al., 2019; Stoeber et al., 2018) should be helpful in this respect.

Clinical trials. Oliceridine (TRV130), a biased MOR agonist, was evaluated in several randomized, controlled clinical trials. The first randomized, double-blind and placebocontrolled trial in healthy volunteers showed it had a greater analgesic effect than morphine in relieving cold-induced pain but also induced dose-related adverse effects. However, respiratory drive was lower and nausea less severe (only after the two lowest doses) than with morphine (Soergel et al., 2014). Two phase II randomized, double-blind and controlled trials were performed in patients with post-operative pain following bunionectomy (Viscusi et al., 2016) and abdominoplasty (N. Singla et al., 2017). The results obtained showed that oliceridine induces significant analgesia compared with placebo, with a faster (and stronger in the case of bunionectomy) effect than morphine. The tolerability of oliceridine, which did not induce severe adverse effects, was similar to that of morphine in patients who underwent bunionectomy while nausea, vomiting, respiratory effects were less frequent in patients treated with oliceridine who underwent abdominoplasty. Three recent phase III studies (Bergese et al., 2019; N. K. Singla et al., 2019; Viscusi et al., 2019) of patients with moderateto-severe pain following surgery or with a painful non-surgical medical condition confirmed the significant dose-dependent analgesic effect of oliceridine versus placebo and showed that it was no less effective than morphine. In these studies adverse effects also increased dosedependently, with no significant difference from those induced by equianalgesic doses of morphine. However, post-treatment rescue antiemetic use was significantly lower with oliceridine regimens than with morphine.

At the end of 2018, the FDA declined to approve oliceridine (from Trevena, Inc), citing safety concerns, particularly prolongation of the QT interval on the ECG, and depression of the respiratory drive. After carrying out studies, on QT in particular, Trevena looks forward to resubmitting a new drug application in the first quarter of 2020.

#### 3.1.3 Drugs acting on MOR effectors

Biased agonists are still direct activators of MOR, which may explain why they retain some of the adverse effects of opioids. Another hypothesis is that compounds that would not interact with MOR but that would directly modulate MOR effectors specifically involved in the analgesic effect and not in the adverse side effects of opioids, would exert analgesic effects with a higher benefit/risk ratio.

#### 3.1.3.1 MOR downstream cellular signaling

The binding of morphine to MOR results in the activation of a  $G\alpha_{i/o}$  protein which inhibits adenylate cyclase, which in turn decreases intracellular cAMP levels (Crain et al., 1988; Crain & Shen, 2000; Cruciani et al., 1993). Decrease in cAMP results in decreased PKA activity and subsequently alterations in numerous downstream PKA-dependent signaling cascades. Likewise, the G $\beta\gamma$  complex initiates various second messenger pathways (M. A. Emery & Eitan, 2019). The G $\beta\gamma$  subunit actively mediates certain negative effects associated with opioid treatment, including the reduction of acute analgesia (Bonacci et al., 2006) and the promotion of hyperalgesia (Bianchi et al., 2009). Blocking G $\beta\gamma$  activity boosts opioid antinociception, blocks hyperalgesia, and attenuates tolerance and the development of dependence. This effect of  $G\beta\gamma$  signaling appears to be mediated by the PLC pathway (Bianchi et al., 2009; Mathews et al., 2008).

Downstream of these signaling pathways, inhibition of voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Na^+$  channels, ASICs and TRP channels has been reported and activation of K<sup>+</sup> channels (Cai et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2001) observed (**Figure 2B**). Among these effectors, we selected ion channels, for which information is available on the impact of their modulation not only on analgesia but also on opioid-like adverse side effects. We carried out the following analysis bearing in mind that ion channels can be targets of interest because of their role as MOR effectors and because of their specific role in transmitting pain messages. Here, particular focus will be placed on their link with MOR.

#### 3.1.3.2 Ion channel effectors of the MOR

#### 3.1.3.2.1 Voltage-dependent calcium channels

Opioids regulate the activity of high-threshold L-(Cav1.x), N-(Cav2.2), P/Q-(Cav2.1), R-(Cav2.3) and low-threshold T-(Cav3.x) type voltage-dependent calcium channels (VDCCs) via the activation of opioid receptors (OR) and nociceptin/orphanin FQ (N/OFQ) opioid receptors (Abdulla & Smith, 1997; Kim et al., 1997). The inhibitory effects of opioids on high-threshold VDCCs are acutely mediated by the activation of G $\alpha_{i/o}$  proteins (Kim et al., 1997) or by the direct interaction of G $\beta\gamma$  with the channel pore formed by the  $\alpha$  subunit of the channel (Zamponi & Currie, 2013).

Up-regulation of L-type VDCC function is an important factor in the development of physical dependence on drugs of abuse such as ethanol, morphine, and nicotine (Little, 1991; Shibasaki et al., 2009; Walter & Messing, 1999). Repeated *in vivo* treatment with morphine induced an increase in Cav1.2 protein level in the mouse frontal cortex and limbic forebrain,

and morphine-induced place preference was suppressed by an L-type VDCC antagonist (Shibasaki et al., 2011).

While Cav2.1 channels play limited roles in afferent pain pathways (Bourinet et al., 2014), and opioid receptor effects are generally presumed to be inhibitory, activation of Cav2.1 is a common mechanism described for both MORs and DORs in several supraspinal structures (Iegorova et al., 2010; Margolis et al., 2017) whose pharmacological consequences need to be clarified.

Cav2.2 channels are almost exclusively expressed in neuronal tissue (Nowycky et al., 1985). Interactions have been demonstrated between Cav2.2 channels and all four members of the extended opioid receptor family (Beedle et al., 2004; Evans et al., 2010). Opiate analgesics inhibit presynaptic Cav2.2 channels in the spinal dorsal horn via  $Ga_{i/o}$  protein coupled MOR (Heinke et al., 2011; Khasabova et al., 2004; Z.-Z. Wu et al., 2004). MVIIA (ziconotide) is a specific inhibitor of the N-type calcium channel, Cav2.2, is currently used for the treatment of severe chronic pains in patients unresponsive to opioid therapy and is non-addictive (Vetter & Lewis, 2012). However, it produces severe side-effects, including dizziness, nystagmus, somnolence, abnormal gait, and ataxia (Sanford, 2013). Interestingly, taking into account that the cytoplasmic  $\beta$  subunits of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels increase the surface expression of the poreforming  $\alpha$  subunit of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel, Khanna and coworkers discovered a molecule able to bind to Cav $\beta$  and inhibit its coupling with Cav2.2 channels. This led to a reduction in Cav2.2 currents in rat dorsal root ganglion sensory neurons, which induced analgesia in both postsurgical and neuropathic pain models. Moreover, unlike ziconotide, this compound failed to induce akinesia after intracerebroventricular injection (Khanna et al., 2019).

Cav2.3 KO mice have been reported to show functional deficits in pain perception (Saegusa et al., 2000), suggesting that Cav2.3 channels contribute to pain transmission. It was also demonstrated that the genetic or pharmacological blockade of Cav2.3 channels (particularly

supraspinal ones) resulted in enhanced morphine-induced analgesia and reduced morphine tolerance in mice (Yokoyama et al., 2004).

T-type calcium channels were found to exert a modulatory role in the acute and chronic actions of opioids, and T-type VDCC blockers (i.e., mibefradil) augment the antinociceptive effects of morphine, prevent the development of tolerance to its antinociceptive effects and suppress morphine withdrawal syndrome (Dogrul et al., 2002; Doğrul et al., 2001; Park et al., 2010). In addition, T-type calcium channel membrane expression is dynamically regulated and increased under chronic pain conditions arising from nerve injury, diabetes, and chemotherapy agents (Bourinet et al., 2014). Thus, counteracting this aberrant upregulation may be an effective means of mediating analgesia (Francois et al., 2013).

#### 3.1.3.2.2 Sodium channels

There is evidence that opioid agonists can inhibit voltage-dependent Na<sup>+</sup> currents in an opioid receptor independent manner, acting directly on these channels (Joshi et al., 2003; Su et al., 2002; Zou et al., 2000), but very few studies have reported Nav channel control by OR. It has been shown that the MOR agonist DAMGO inhibits PGE2-induced potentiation of tetrodotoxin-resistant sodium currents (TTX-R I<sub>Na</sub>). It has also been demonstrated that the activation of MOR inhibits the voltage-dependent Na<sup>+</sup> currents expressed in non-pyramidal neurons of the medial prefrontal cortex (Witkowski & Szulczyk, 2006), suggesting an involvement of this channel in opioid-induced mood regulation and drug dependence (Williams et al., 2001). Of note, Nav1.7 has recently been identified as a regulator of opioid analgesic activity in mice and humans (Minett et al., 2015). Nav1.7 deletion has profound effects on the expression of several genes, which leads to an upregulation of the enkephalin precursor (Penk) mRNA and met-enkephalin protein in sensory neurons. Application of the opioid antagonist naloxone potentiates noxious peripheral input into the spinal cord and

dramatically reduces analgesia in Nav1.7-null mutant mice and in a human Nav1.7-null mutant. A follow-up study demonstrated that both MORs and DORs are required for the opioid component of Nav1.7-null mutant analgesia (V. Pereira et al., 2018). These results could explain, at least in part, why Nav1.7 channel blockers alone do not replicate the analgesic phenotype of null mutant humans and mice (Deuis et al., 2017; E. C. Emery et al., 2016) and suggest that the co-administration of low dose opioids and specific Nav1.7 antagonists could have useful adverse-effect free analgesic effects.

#### 3.1.3.2.3 Transient receptor potential channels

The transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 (TRPV1), a non-selective cation (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) channel activated by heat and involved in the transduction of noxious stimuli by nociceptive peripheral neurons (Caterina et al., 2000), is known as the receptor of the chili pepper alkaloid capsaicin. Capsaicin is used as an analgesic because after it is activated it induces desensitization of the channel (O'Neill et al., 2012). In addition, new TRPV1 antagonists with an optimized benefit/risk ratio, avoiding hyperthermia, are currently being developed (Andreev et al., 2013; Lehto et al., 2008; Reilly et al., 2012; Voight et al., 2014).

TRPV1 activity can be regulated by MOR (Endres-Becker et al., 2007; Vetter et al., 2006). This channel has been involved, at least in part, in morphine-induced acute antinociception and the development of morphine tolerance and dependence (Rowan et al., 2014; Viola Spahn et al., 2013; Vardanyan et al., 2009). Indeed, increased TRPV1 expression has been observed in both the peripheral and central nervous systems of rodents following chronic morphine administration (Y. Chen et al., 2008; Vardanyan et al., 2009) and also in peripheral neurons in a murine bone cancer pain model (Niiyama et al., 2007), which is substantially resistant to morphine analgesia. TRPV1 antagonists also attenuated morphine tolerance and associated

thermal hyperalgesia (Y. Chen et al., 2008; Nguyen et al., 2010) and withdrawal symptoms in morphine-dependent mice (Nguyen et al., 2010).

Transient receptor potential melastatin 3 (TRPM3) channels are thermosensitive nociceptor channels involved in the detection of noxious heat (Vriens et al., 2011), and inhibitors of TRPM3 channels have strong anti-nociceptive properties (L. Chen et al., 2014; Krügel et al., 2017; Straub et al., 2013; Suzuki et al., 2016). It was recently observed that local activation of peripheral MORs causes strong analgesia by inhibiting TRPM3 channels via a short signaling cascade involving G $\beta\gamma$  proteins (Dembla et al., 2017). The same mechanism of action has been seen with other GPCR-mediated pain killing drugs (Badheka et al., 2015; Quallo et al., 2017). These results support TRPM3 as a major target of an intracellular signaling cascade initiated by activated MORs at the peripheral level. Direct pharmacological inhibition of TRPM3 channels could therefore be a feasible alternative to MOR agonists.

#### 3.1.3.2.4 Potassium channels

G protein activated inwardly rectifying K<sup>+</sup> (GIRK) channels, particularly GIRK2 subunit expressing channels, are involved in pain perception (for a review see (Lüscher & Slesinger, 2010) and are involved in the acute analgesic effect of morphine (Ikeda et al., 2000; Marker et al., 2004; Mitrovic et al., 2003). However, studies using the GIRK-channel inhibitor tertiapine (Devilliers et al., 2013; Marker et al., 2004) or GIRK KO mice (Cruz et al., 2008; Marker et al., 2004) demonstrated that these channels play only a partial role in the antinociceptive effect mediated by high doses of morphine. Also, another study observed that morphine analgesia was mostly preserved in mice lacking both GIRK2 and GIRK3. However, the morphine withdrawal syndrome induced by naloxone was strongly attenuated in these animals (Cruz et al., 2008). On the basis of a combination of biochemical, histological, and electrophysiological approaches, it has also been suggested that GIRK signaling could be a pathway involved in the abusive effects of morphine (Nassirpour et al., 2010). Of note, GIRK channels have been shown to be involved in opioid-induced respiratory depression (Montandon et al., 2016) and impairment of the upper airways (Levitt et al., 2015). Despite years of GIRK research, very few tools exist to selectively modulate the activity of GIRK channels. To our knowledge, only one GIRK activator has been shown to exert an analgesic effect in the formalin test after injection of a single dose (Abney et al., 2019). More work is needed to ascertain the analgesic potential of GIRK activators and to assess their safety profile.

The TWIK-related potassium channel 1 (TREK-1) is another downstream effector of MOR (Devilliers et al., 2013). TREK-1 is a member of the K2P channel family (Bayliss & Barrett, 2008; Enyedi & Czirják, 2010; F. Lesage & Lazdunski, 2000; Florian Lesage, 2003; Maingret et al., 2000; Mathie & Veale, 2007; Patel et al., 1998) involved in polymodal pain perception (Alloui et al., 2006; Noël et al., 2009) and in pain pathophysiology (Descoeur et al., 2011). It is noteworthy that although the TREK-1 K<sup>+</sup> channel is a crucial contributor of morphineinduced analgesia in naive mice and in several pathological contexts, it is not involved in several morphine-induced adverse effects such as constipation, respiratory depression, dependence (Devilliers et al., 2013) and abuse liability, as measured by the conditioned place preference (CPP) test (Mirkovic et al., 2012). These observations suggest that direct activation of the TREK-1 K<sup>+</sup> channel, acting downstream from MOR, could have strong analgesic effects without opioid-like adverse effects. A number of pharmacologically active compounds enhance the activity of TREK-1 channels (Mathie & Veale, 2007; Vivier et al., 2016) but most, if not all, of these compounds are non-selective for TREK-1 channels. At least one of them, riluzole, has demonstrated analgesic effects in several pathological contexts in rodents and it has recently been shown that its analgesic effect is lost in TREK-1 KO mice (Poupon et al., 2018). A series of novel molecules able to activate TREK-1 and displaying potent antinociceptive activity has recently been synthesized (Rodrigues et al., 2014; Vivier et al., 2017). The furyl analogue 36 is the most promising of these series since it exerts antinociceptive activity in naive mice, and is effective in relieving inflammatory and neuropathic hypersensitivity in rodents. This effect is strongly reduced in TREK-1 KO mice and in mice treated with the TREK-1 blocker spadin. In parallel, it failed to induce respiratory depression, constipation, dependence or sedation (personal unpublished data).

#### 3.1.4 Peripherally acting MOR agonists

Another strategy of replacing current opioid drugs while ensuring a better benefit/risk ratio and reducing, in particular their main CNS adverse effects is to develop compounds with only peripheral opioid action (**Figure 3**). The prerequisite for the success of this strategy is the existence of a peripheral endogenous opioid system. In addition to their neuronal expression, endogenous opioids are expressed in neuroendocrine tissues and granulocytes, monocytes/macrophages and lymphocytes (Christoph Stein & Machelska, 2011). Released from immune cells in painful tissues, they activate the opioid receptors present on nociceptors, including MORs that are up-regulated in these (inflammatory or peripheral neuropathic) situations, and thus constitute an endogenous pain control system at the source of pain generation. Several changes observed in inflamed/injured tissues facilitate this role: the sprouting of opioid receptor-bearing peripheral sensory nerve terminals; a disrupted perineural barrier facilitating the access of opioid agonists to their receptors and a decrease in tissue pH (Stein, 2018), which increases opioid agonist efficacy (Christoph Stein & Machelska, 2011).

Several animal studies have demonstrated an analgesic effect of peripherally administered exogenous opioids (Jagla et al., 2014; Christoph Stein & Machelska, 2011). Interestingly, a recent study (V. Spahn et al., 2017) led to the synthesis of a fentanyl derivative (NFEPP)

designed to selectively activate MOR only at low pH. NFEPP, with a low PKa close to the pH of injured tissue, produced peripheral, injury-restricted analgesia in rat models of inflammatory and postoperative pain (i.e. in tissue with low pH), with no accompanying respiratory depression, sedation, constipation, or addiction potential. This was confirmed by the same team in models of neuropathic (CCI model) and abdominal pain (writhes due to acetic acid administration) with damaged tissue (Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi et al., 2018). However, another fentanyl derivative (FF3) with a PKa not low enough to restrict its activity to injured/acidic tissue induced analgesia but with opioid-like adverse effects at high doses, similar to well-tolerated doses of NFEPP (Viola Spahn et al., 2018). Thus, it was suggested that "the pKa of a [opioid] ligand should be close to the pH of the injured tissue (as shown for NFEPP) to obtain selective peripheral analgesia without side effects".

Another strategy has recently been developed that uses the attachment of morphine to hyperbranched polyglycerol. This conjugate of high-molecular weight and hydrophilicity, administered intravenously, selectively induced analgesia on the inflamed paw in a naloxone methiodide-dependent manner, without inducing constipation or sedation (González-Rodríguez et al., 2017). All these results justify proposing the pain tissue-specific activation of opioid receptors as a new pharmacological pathway. Clinical studies should be carried out as soon as the various compounds are available for human testing.

In humans, the local administration of opioids has been shown to induce analgesia, as demonstrated with intra-articular morphine (whose effect was reversed by naloxone) in the princeps paper of Stein et al., (C. Stein et al., 1991) and in a meta-analysis of 15 randomized clinical trials comparing the effect of an intra-articular single dose of morphine administered at the end of arthroscopic knee surgery with that of bupivacaine (Wei et al., 2014). The M6G metabolite of morphine administered intravenously was found to be as active as morphine over the first 24 h postoperatively (Hanna et al., 2005) and its analgesic efficacy was similar

to that of morphine at later time points albeit less during the first four post-operative hours (Binning et al., 2011). An analgesic effect of M6G was also observed in experimental pain models (Tegeder et al., 2003). The limited diffusion capacity of M6G through the blood brain barrier led some authors to consider it to act peripherally, confirming the ability of mu opioid receptor agonists to induce peripheral opioid analgesia. However, an earlier animal study showed that naloxone inhibited the analgesic effect of the subcutaneous administration of M6G whereas naloxone methiodide, which does not diffuse through the blood brain barrier, failed to modify it (D. Wu et al., 1997). In addition, the hypothesis of an analgesic action of opioid receptor agonists, administered peripherally, was contradicted by the work published by Picard et al. 1997 (Picard et al., 1997). They performed a meta-analysis of 22 clinical trials conducted on patients with acute surgical pain to assess the efficacy of opioids administered peripherally at various sites (except the joints) and concluded that the trials provided no evidence of clinically relevant analgesic efficacy. Stein and Machelska (Christoph Stein & Machelska, 2011) considered this negative result to be due to the perineural administration of opioids along non-injured nerves. However, in two negative studies included in the metaanalysis, opioids were administered in a tooth socket or in a surgical wound. Another study (Aykaç et al., 1995) reported positive results after the intrapleural administration (for thoracotomy) of a high dose of morphine (20 mg). But Picard et al. (Picard et al., 1997) considered the outcome of this study to be of little clinical relevance because of the unconventional (high) dose of morphine used.

To conclude, despite the divergence of certain data, it seems legitimate to consider that opioids administered or distributed locally in acidic/inflammatory painful tissue could have an analgesic effect and could be a good strategy for providing significant analgesia while avoiding the adverse effects of conventional opioids. However, clinical studies are needed to assess the efficacy of compounds designed to target injured tissues with lowered pH.

27

#### 3.1.5 Other strategies

Two different strategies, still aiming at improving the benefit/risk ratio of current MOR agonists, remain to be discussed. The first is based on the assumption that the more rapidly a drug reaches efficacious levels in the brain to relieve pain the more rapid is the onset of additional CNS effects. Limiting the entry speed could reduce the risk without affecting analgesic activity, which could even be prolonged (**Figure 4A**). Accordingly, NKTR-181 was designed from the oxycodone molecule with a polyethylene glycol side chain grafted onto it. This new compound has a penetration rate in the brain of rats 17 to 71 times lower than that of oxycodone. Orally administered, it has an analgesic effect in mice 30 times less powerful than that of oxycodone but with a longer duration (about 4 times) (Miyazaki et al., 2017). In addition, NKTR-181 has an improved therapeutic ratio for CNS adverse effects compared with oxycodone, with reduced abuse potential and behavioral effects.

In humans, a study performed in randomized healthy, adult, non-physically dependent recreational opioid users showed that while oxycodone produced rapid and strong drug-liking effects indicative of high abuse potential, NKTR-181, at the highest dose, had only a slightly different effect from that of placebo (Webster et al., 2018). Moreover, scores for nausea and somnolence for all doses of NKTR-181 were not statistically different from those of placebo and lower than those for oxycodone.

Another study (SUMMIT-07) performed in randomized adults with moderate-to-severe chronic low-back pain refractory to nonopioid analgesics, showed a significant and maintained (12 weeks) analgesic efficacy of NKTR-181 vs placebo (Markman et al., 2019). The most common adverse effects were nausea, constipation and vomiting with a higher incidence than in the placebo group. An open-label phase III study evaluated the 52-week, long-term safety of NKTR-181 in subjects (opioid-naïve and opioid-experienced) with

moderate-to-severe chronic low back pain or CNCP (Gudin et al., 2019). The safety profile was generally consistent with results obtained in the SUMMIT-07 phase III clinical trial (Markman et al., 2019). The abuse potential of NKTR-181 was assessed in two phase III clinical trials with a newly developed reporting system, the Misuse, Abuse, and Diversion Drug Event Reporting System (MADDERS®)(Gudin et al., 2019; Lanier et al., 2019) that discerns potentially abuse-related events. In the two trials it identified low rates of withdrawal and a low risk of abuse potential, diversion or addiction associated with NKTR-181.

The other strategy we would like to highlight is the development of ligands targeting MORs and the other opioid receptors individually and/or as heteromers (Figure 4B). Given the focus of this article on MORs alone, we will just mention a few examples. On the basis of studies showing that morphine-mediated antinociception could be potentiated by DOR antagonists, eluxadoline, a novel MOR agonist / DOR antagonist, (and KOR agonist), has been developed for the treatment of diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome (IBS-D). In phase III studies, it reduced abdominal pain, significantly vs placebo (Brenner et al., 2019; Lacy et al., 2019; Lembo et al., 2016). A subgroup analysis of phase III trials (Lacy et al., 2019) suggests that eluxadoline is effective in treating IBS-D across a range of commonly encountered patient types and that patients aged  $\geq 65$  years had a greater proportion of responders at the lower, approved 75 mg eluxadoline dose. CYM51010, a MOR-DOR heteromer-biased agonist induced an antinociceptive effect similar to that of morphine but lesser antinociceptive tolerance and less severe signs of naloxone-precipitated withdrawal (Gomes et al., 2013). Nnaphthoyl-β-naltrexamine (NNTA), designed to act as an activator of MOR-KOR heteromer, produced analgesia in mice but neither significant physical dependence nor place preference in the ED50 dose range (Yekkirala et al., 2011). However, it was only evaluated after central (intrathecal or intracerebroventricular) administration. Among the several compounds that are MOR and DOR agonists and NK1 receptor antagonists, TY027 reduces hyperalgesia in mice and rats without producing analgesic tolerance, reward, naloxone-precipitated withdrawal, vomiting or inhibition of the gastrointestinal transit (Largent-Milnes et al., 2013). Finally, bifunctional agonists of MOR and nociceptin/orphanin FQ peptide (NOP) receptors have been developed (**Figure 4B**), which increase the pain-relieving properties and decrease the addictive properties of MOR agonists. A novel partial MOR-NOP receptor agonist has been designed to obtain an analgesic compound devoid of the rewarding effect observed with previously designed bifunctional agonists. It induced antinociceptive and anti-allodynic effects in monkeys, as determined by thermal and capsaicin tests, respectively, and failed to induce opioid-like adverse effects such as respiratory depression, abuse potential, opioid-induced hyperalgesia and physical dependence (Ding et al., 2018).

## 3.2 Strengthening endogenous opioid mediators

The endogenous opioid system, first discovered in 1975 with Met- and Leu-enkephalin (Hughes et al., 1975), consists of several families of peptides (endorphins, enkephalins, dynorphins, endomorphins 1 and 2, nociceptin) whose genes encode the precursors of the first three peptides, which are ligands for MORs, DORs and KORs, were discovered in humans in the 1980s (Chang et al., 1980; Horikawa et al., 1983; Noda et al., 1982). Endogenous mediators and their receptors are present along the entire pathway of the nociceptive message: at the periphery on the nociceptor, in the spinal cord and in the brain. Enkephalins (Met- and Leu-enkephalin) are specifically endowed with antinociceptive activity: they activate MORs and DORs (Takei et al., 2015). This effect was demonstrated by Belluzzi (Belluzzi et al., 1976) shortly after the discovery of Met- and Leu-enkephalin in the pig brain and their ability to activate opioid receptors (Hughes et al., 1975). These studies were followed by others using enkephalin (Brady & Holtzman, 1982) and preproenkephalin-deficient mice (Noble et al., 2008) that confirmed their antinociceptive effect. For example, endogenous opioids that are

upregulated in the spinal cord following peripheral injury (Lai et al., 2008; Podvin et al., 2016; M. Xu et al., 2004) or released in the anterior cingulate cortex during sustained pain experiences (Borras et al., 2004; Zubieta et al., 2005) provide inhibitory regulation of pain in its somatosensory and emotional dimensions. This endogenous analgesic activity was seen in post-operative pain conditions in patients in whom a hyperalgesic effect of naloxone had been observed (Levine et al., 1978; M. P. Pereira et al., 2015).

It was therefore legitimate to aim to strengthen this endogenous system, at one site or another of the pain pathways/centers, in order to achieve an analgesic effect either by acting on the mediators' metabolism or by administering the endogenous mediator itself, ideally in a targeted way.

#### 3.2.1 Reducing enkephalin degradation

Enkephalins are catabolized by two major enzymes, the neutral endopeptidase neprilysin (NEP) and the aminopeptidase N (APN), into inactive metabolites. The inhibition of these enzymes induces an antinociceptive effect, as initially shown by Roques and co-workers (B. P. Roques et al., 1980), who demonstrated the ability of thiorphan, an NEP inhibitor, to significantly increase the antinociceptive effect of D-Ala2 -Met5-enkephalin and to induce a naloxone-reversible antinociceptive effect in the hot plate test.

Work on these inhibitors has intensified and led to molecules known as DENKIs (Dual ENKephalinase Inhibitors), which target both enzymes, (Raffa et al., 2018; Bernard P. Roques et al., 2012) (**Figure 5**). The various inhibitors designed (kelatorphan, PC12, RB 101, RB 120, RB3007, PL37, PL265) had an analgesic effect in mice and rats (healthy animals and models of inflammatory or neuropathic pain) subjected to nociceptive stimuli (Bonnard et al., 2015; H. Chen et al., 2001; Bernard P. Roques et al., 2012). This effect was related to their ability to reduce the degradation of enkephalins (Daugé et al., 1996; Le Guen et al., 2003), a

mechanism confirmed by the loss of their analgesic effect in preproenkephalin KO mice (Noble et al., 2008) and after the co-administration of naloxone with kelatorphan (Kayser et al., 1989) or naloxone methiodide with PL265 (Bonnard et al., 2015). In addition to their shared ability to inhibit NEP and APN, DENKIs have different capabilities of crossing the blood-brain barrier (RB101, RB120, PL37 at high doses) or not (Kelatorphan, PL265). Some DENKIs (PL37, PL265) are active after oral administration. In addition, in accordance with the induction of analgesia through the activation of peripheral opioid receptors (Christoph Stein, 2018), it has been shown that DENKIs such as PL37 or PL265 have a peripheral effect inhibited by naloxone methiodide (Bonnard et al., 2015; Menéndez et al., 2008).

The discovery of opiorphine occupies a special place in the context of "natural" pharmacology. Opiorphine is a DENKI found in human saliva (Wisner et al., 2006) whose prolonged, naloxone-reversible analgesic effects were demonstrated by various tests after systemic (Popik et al., 2010; Rougeot et al., 2010; Wisner et al., 2006) and intracerebroventricular (Tian et al., 2009) administration and in a post-surgical animal model of pain (Sitbon et al., 2016) with no occurrence of opioid-like adverse events (Popik et al., 2010; Rougeot et al., 2016). A chemically stable opiorphin analog, STR-324, which crosses the blood-brain barrier, had similar effects in a post-operative pain model (Sitbon et al., 2016) and a neuropathic pain model (Van Elstraete et al., 2018). To conclude, there is preclinical evidence of the analgesic action of DENKIs that has the advantage of strengthening an endogenous analgesic system. It should not be forgotten, however, that NEP induces the metabolism of pain-producing, inflammatory peptides such as bradykinin and substance P (Campbell, 2017).

Previous work showed that, when jointly administered by the intrathecal route, thiorphan, an enkephalinase inhibitor, and bestatin, an aminopeptidase inhibitor, elicited potent, reproducible, and long-lasting analgesia in terminally ill cancer patients who were

unresponsive to morphine (Meynadier et al., 1988). Two pharmaceutical companies are developing these two types of DENKIs and have carried out or are planning clinical studies of neuropathic (a phase II study has been performed) and post-operative pain.

Regarding the adverse effects of this strategy, although DENKIs do not seem to induce opioid-like adverse effects (in particular because of their action, which is considered to be localized at the sole site of increased enkephalin secretion), the risks of other types of adverse effects due to chronic inhibition of NEP should be taken into account because of the role of NEP in the degradation of many bioactive peptides (Campbell, 2017). It would be useful to analyze results in humans of the first dual-acting angiotensin-receptor–NEP inhibitor following its approval by the FDA in 2015 for the treatment of heart failure.

#### 3.2.2 Using endogenous opioids as drugs

Another way to strengthen the effects of endogenous opioids would be by direct administration. As these peptides degrade rapidly, protection strategies must be found to make them viable as a therapeutic solution (**Figure 3**).

The design of nanoparticles combined with squalene, whose effects were recently documented (Feng et al., 2019), is one possible solution. It has been shown that the integration of Leu-enkephalin into nanoparticles can have an anti-hyperalgesic effect in an inflammatory pain model after intravenous administration. The effect of two of the preparations used was of a duration comparable to that of morphine (around 70 minutes) and more prolonged (around 130 minutes) for one other, nanoparticles being still present 24 hours after injection. In all cases, the effect was inhibited by naloxone methiodide, suggesting a peripheral opioidergic action consistent with the much higher distribution of nanoparticles at the inflammatory area. This interesting and novel result needs to be confirmed under other experimental conditions, by testing with other doses. The dose of Leu-enkephalin used was 10

times higher than that of morphine (11.48 mg/kg vs 1mg/kg) and was also high with regard to the nanomolar affinity of the peptide for opioid receptors (Kosterlitz et al., 1980). However, the limited distribution of the nanoparticle outside the inflammatory zone could help to obtain a good adverse reaction profile, although this remains to be confirmed. Of course, this interest in the targeting capabilities of nanoparticles can be applied to exogenous opioids, the key point being probably more the specific targeting than the nature of the ligand (Hua & Cabot, 2013; Li et al., 2014).

*Clinical trials.* No clinical trial has yet been performed with enkephalin integrated into nanoparticles. However, a study of a small patient sample (n=10) suffering from cancer-related chronic pain (Fink et al., 2011) showed that intradermal injection of NP2 Enkephalin (NP2 is a gene transfer vector engineered to express human preproenkephalin) induced analgesia at the two highest doses used with good tolerability. Such a strategy based on gene therapy was positively assessed in animals (for a review see (Guedon et al., 2015). Pending the possible availability to the patient of all the compounds mentioned above and

given the scale of the opioid crisis, it would be useful to consider ways of reducing the risks of abuse and misuse resulting from the dependence that they can cause. Possible initiatives are suggested in the following paragraph.

# 4. Can we limit abuse and misuse as factors contributing to opioid use disorder?

The considerable increase in the prescription of opioids over the past few decades has been accompanied by an increase in misuse and abuse behaviors that have led to unintentional intoxication and death (Shipton et al., 2018). This trend began, as mentioned above, in the

United States, before gradually spreading to most industrialized countries (Chenaf et al., 2016; Gallagher & Galvin, 2018; Manchikanti, Helm, et al., 2012) and to several developing countries in Africa and Asia (UNDOC, 2018). Although European countries are not currently facing a crisis of the same magnitude as in North America or Australia (Häuser et al., 2017; Van Amsterdam & Van den Brink, 2015), various pharmacovigilance signals have emerged, particularly in Northern Europe, and are attracting the attention of health authorities (*État des lieux de la consommation des antalgiques opioïdes et leurs usages problématiques*, 2019; *European Drug Report 2018: Trends and Developments*, 2018).

The magnitude of the opioid crisis requires us to consider what improvements must be made to limit the phenomenon, its progressive spread and its consequences, particularly abuse and misuse. Two main non-pharmacological strategies must be discussed: first, the quality of the doctor-patient relationship and second, the issue of galenic innovation. At the same time, there should be discussion of the relevance of the development and prescription of abusedeterrent formulations.

Regarding the doctor-patient relationship, the role of practitioners raises questions about their training in the management of opioid analgesics and the lack of information provided to the patient regarding the treatment prescribed to them. Due to their high risk of serious adverse effects and their addictive potential, these treatments should only be prescribed with full knowledge of and compliance with their indications. Even in these conditions, the efficacy, tolerance, and relevance of the therapies should be regularly assessed, without which their deprescription should be considered. However, de-prescription is not innocuous since it implies withdrawing treatment that is insufficiently effective or poorly tolerated without the prescriber being necessarily able to offer other therapeutic options to the patient. In addition, deprescribing an opioid analgesic sometimes requires the use of withdrawal strategies, which potentially involves substitution treatments. This could be difficult to manage for practitioners

unused to dealing with addiction, whose task would be eased by improved accessibility of care provided in specialized addiction centers.

Another area of reflection concerns the quality of the interview before prescription of an opioid analgesic. Psychiatric and/or addictive comorbidities are well-known factors of vulnerability to the onset of substance use disorders. These comorbidities, which are frequently associated with chronic pain, need to be identified and require the prescriber's attention. A quality medical history would allow patients to be stratified according to their misuse and abuse risk level so as to assess the relevance of prescriptions and to adapt monitoring of the proper use of opioids. From the first prescription, the patient must be informed of the treatment risks and the measures to be taken to avoid them. This particularly concerns the risk of dependence and progressive tolerance that occurs with long-term opioid exposure. These events can potentially lead to an increase in the doses taken, with the resulting risk of overdoses and death. These elements have been reaffirmed in many guidelines, including recently updated ones, on the use of opioid analgesics in chronic pain outlined above.

The psychological suffering frequently induced by chronic pain is another factor that can be involved in the onset of prescription opioid use disorder. The psychotropic effect induced by opioids can lead to a perception of partial relief of mental suffering, which in turn can sometimes lead to diversion and overuse of the opioid prescribed in order to increase relief (Volkow & McLellan, 2016). This gradual increase in dosage, combined with the tolerance phenomenon, can induce negative (by reducing the pain stimulus) and positive (by a psychotropic effect) reinforcement, if opioids are given repeatedly (Ewan & Martin, 2013). This operant conditioning could be the cause of the craving described by users of opioid analgesics, which can be defined as an emergency to consume the substance in order to feel its analgesic and psychotropic effects (Miguez et al., 2014; Volkow & McLellan, 2016).

The second strategy designed to reduce the risk of abuse and misuse is galenic innovations in the development of abuse-deterrent formulations. However, their relevance is not always apparent. They remain poorly prescribed, allow only a partial limitation of diversion, and involve a now confirmed risk of transfer to other non-abuse-deterrent formulations or illegal opioids such as heroin, which have dropped in price (Cicero & Ellis, 2015; Litman et al., 2018).

## **5.** Conclusion

This focus on the replacement of MOR agonists, the vast majority of opioid drugs currently available on the market, raises hope for the commercialization of new compounds in the more or less long term. Pharmacological targeting of MOR splice variants is a promising strategy for the development of safer opioids but for the moment biased agonists are the most advanced products under development with a phase III study of post-operative pain with oliceridine currently in progress. However, the FDA considered that the benefit/risk ratio of oliceridine was not optimal and its re-evaluation is pending. DENKIs were developed some time ago and were evaluated in a Phase II study, whose results have not yet been published and so it is not possible to assess their actual contribution to the pharmacopoeia, particularly for neuropathic pain. The use of (exogenous or endogenous) opioid ligands having peripheral action could be of interest, particularly molecules targeting tissues damaged by acidic substances, thanks to their low PKA, and nanoparticles including exogenous or endogenous opioids. Clinical studies are expected to be made. Ligands of ion channels such as TRPM3 and TREK-1, which contribute to the analgesic activity of opioids downstream of MOR activation, are also targets of potential interest. Hence, direct modulation of these effectors, thus bypassing MOR activation, should result in analgesic effects but devoid of opioid-like adverse effects, as demonstrated for TREK1 activators. Finally, a better benefit/risk ratio can also be achieved by agonists of several opioid or non-opioid receptors or by mu agonists with a slower entry to the CNS. Thus, eluxadoline (a MOR agonist and DOR antagonist, **Figure 4B**) and NKTR-181 (a MOR agonist with a slow rate of CNS entry, **Figure 4A**) have shown their efficacy in patients with IBS (eluxadoline is approved by both the FDA and EMA) and chronic low back pain, respectively.

The interest of having multiple targets at our disposal is that they could together open up the pharmacopoeia to new concepts, as would agonists of delta and kappa opioid receptors, not mentioned here, but some of which are currently under development. This broadening of the spectrum is desired to ensure effective analgesia that can (probably through conceptually different molecules) help in the management of different pain syndromes while providing a good benefit/risk ratio. The renewal of the pharmacopoeia of painkillers is an urgent necessity that should allow the most personalized prescriptions as possible without inducing serious adverse reactions or public health situations such as the crisis we are currently experiencing.

*Conflict of Interest Statement:* The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

We affirm that the manuscript has not been published and is not under consideration for publication elsewhere.

## **FIGURE LEGENDS**

**FIGURE 1** | <u>MOR splice variants</u>. Schematic representation of the human Oprm1 gene. The three classes of splice variants (7-TM, 6-TM and 1-TM) are presented. 1- and 7-TM variants are produced from the promoter associated with exon 1 (blue) and 6-TM variants from the promoter of exon 11 (pink). Selective activation of 6-TM variants by IBNTxA produces analgesia with fewer adverse effects than morphine, who acts preferentially on 7-TM variants.

**FIGURE 2** | <u>Panel A) Mechanisms of opioid-induced analgesia / adverse effects.</u> Activation of MORs by opioids induces dissociation of Gi/o proteins into Gαi/o and Gβγ subunits that inhibit and activate various ion channels (TRPV1, HCN, ASIC, Nav, Cav, TRPM3 and GIRK, K2P, respectively). These modulations of ion channels induce a decrease in neuronal excitability and underlie analgesia and adverse effects. In parallel, MOR activation induces its phosphorylation by G protein-coupled receptor kinase (GRK) and internalization after βarrestin binding to the phosphorylated site. βarrestin also activates the MAPK signaling pathway that contributes to opioid-related adverse effects. <u>Panel B) New</u> <u>therapeutic strategies.</u> I. Biased-MOR ligands. This therapeutic strategy is based on MOR agonists that activate the receptor and Gi/o complex with only limited βarrestin recruitment, thus reducing associated adverse events. II. MOR effectors ligands. Direct activation of the MOR-modulated ion channels by specific ligands (colored geometric shapes) is an alternative strategy to reduce G protein activation and βarrestin-dependent adverse effects, while maintaining analgesic efficacy.

FIGURE 3 | <u>Therapeutic strategies involving peripheral MORs.</u> A. Peripheral endogenous opioid system. In a context of inflammation and/or tissue injury, inflammatory mediators activate opioids-containing immune cells, present in the tissue and bloodstream,

inducing the release of endogenous opioids. Activated immune cells are also able to bind nerve fibers via ICAM-1 / NCAM receptors, which increases the opioids release of in the vicinity of peripheral nerve fibers terminals, providing analgesia. **B. Peripherally acting MOR ligands.** The vast majority of opioid-related adverse effects are due to central effects. A promising therapeutic strategy is to use MOR ligands acting only in peripheral tissues in order to limit central adverse effects while maintaining some analgesic effects. PG-M: polyglycerolmorphine.

**FIGURE 4** | **Other strategies.** <u>**Panel A:**</u> Limiting the rate at which effective levels are reached in the brain to relieve pain, in order to reduce adverse effects and prolong the analgesic effect. <u>**Panel B:**</u> Targeting heteromers or using multifunctional ligands to potentiate analgesic effect.

## FIGURE 5 | Therapeutic strategies involving Dual-enkephalinase inhibitors (DENKIs).

Endogenous opioids are cleaved and inactivated by APN / NEP enkephalinases mainly expressed on immune cells at the periphery and presynaptic neurons in the central nervous system. In painful situations, DENKIs reduce the cleavage of endogenous opioids and increase their local concentration inducing analgesia. This action occurs at the central and/or peripheral level depending on the biodistribution of the compounds.

## **6.** References

- Abdulla, F. A., & Smith, P. A. (1997). Nociceptin inhibits T-type Ca2+ channel current in rat sensory neurons by a G-protein-independent mechanism. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *17*(22), 8721–8728.
- Abney, K. K., Bubser, M., Du, Y., Kozek, K. A., Bridges, T. M., Linsdley, C. W., Daniels, J. S., Morrison, R. D., Wickman, K., Hopkins, C. R., Jones, C. K., & Weaver, C. D. (2019). Analgesic Effects of the GIRK Activator, VU0466551, Alone and in Combination with Morphine in Acute and Persistent Pain Models. *ACS Chemical Neuroscience*, *10*(3), 1294–1299. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.8b00370
- Alloui, A., Zimmermann, K., Mamet, J., Duprat, F., Noël, J., Chemin, J., Guy, N., Blondeau, N., Voilley, N., Rubat-Coudert, C., Borsotto, M., Romey, G., Heurteaux, C., Reeh, P., Eschalier, A., & Lazdunski, M. (2006). TREK-1, a K+ channel involved in polymodal pain perception. *The EMBO Journal*, 25(11), 2368–2376. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601116
- Altarifi, A. A., David, B., Muchhala, K. H., Blough, B. E., Akbarali, H., & Negus, S. S.
  (2017). Effects of acute and repeated treatment with the biased mu opioid receptor agonist TRV130 (oliceridine) on measures of antinociception, gastrointestinal function, and abuse liability in rodents. *Journal of Psychopharmacology (Oxford, England)*, *31*(6), 730–739. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881116689257
- Andreev, Y. A., Kozlov, S. A., Korolkova, Y. V., Dyachenko, I. A., Bondarenko, D. A.,
  Skobtsov, D. I., Murashev, A. N., Kotova, P. D., Rogachevskaja, O. A., Kabanova, N.
  V., Kolesnikov, S. S., & Grishin, E. V. (2013). Polypeptide modulators of TRPV1
  produce analgesia without hyperthermia. *Marine Drugs*, *11*(12), 5100–5115.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/md11125100

ANSM (Ed.). (2019). État des lieux de la consommation des antalgiques opioïdes et leurs usages problématiques (p. 52). ANSM.
https://ansm.sante.fr/content/download/157015/2058811/version/1/file/Rapport\_antalg iques\_opioides-fev2019.pdf

Araldi, D., Ferrari, L. F., & Levine, J. D. (2018). Mu-opioid Receptor (MOR) Biased
Agonists Induce Biphasic Dose-dependent Hyperalgesia and Analgesia, and
Hyperalgesic Priming in the Rat. *Neuroscience*, *394*, 60–71.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.10.015

- Austin Zamarripa, C., Edwards, S. R., Qureshi, H. N., Yi, J. N., Blough, B. E., & Freeman, K. B. (2018). The G-protein biased mu-opioid agonist, TRV130, produces reinforcing and antinociceptive effects that are comparable to oxycodone in rats. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *192*, 158–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.08.002
- Aykaç, B., Eroléay, H., Dikmen, Y., Oz, H., & Yillar, O. (1995). Comparison of intrapleural versus intravenous morphine for postthoracotomy pain management. *Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia*, 9(5), 538–540.
- Badheka, D., Borbiro, I., & Rohacs, T. (2015). Transient receptor potential melastatin 3 is a phosphoinositide-dependent ion channel. *The Journal of General Physiology*, *146*(1), 65–77. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201411336
- Bayliss, D. A., & Barrett, P. Q. (2008). Emerging roles for two-pore-domain potassium channels and their potential therapeutic impact. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 29(11), 566–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2008.07.013
- Beedle, A. M., McRory, J. E., Poirot, O., Doering, C. J., Altier, C., Barrere, C., Hamid, J., Nargeot, J., Bourinet, E., & Zamponi, G. W. (2004). Agonist-independent modulation of N-type calcium channels by ORL1 receptors. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(2), 118–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1180

- Belluzzi, J. D., Grant, N., Garsky, V., Sarantakis, D., Wise, C. D., & Stein, L. (1976).
  Analgesia induced in vivo by central administration of enkephalin in rat. *Nature*, 260(5552), 625–626.
- Benovic, J. L., Strasser, R. H., Caron, M. G., & Lefkowitz, R. J. (1986). Beta-adrenergic receptor kinase: identification of a novel protein kinase that phosphorylates the agonist-occupied form of the receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 83(9), 2797–2801. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.83.9.2797
- Bergese, S. D., Brzezinski, M., Hammer, G. B., Beard, T. L., Pan, P. H., Mace, S. E.,
  Berkowitz, R. D., Cochrane, K., Wase, L., Minkowitz, H. S., & Habib, A. S. (2019).
  ATHENA: A Phase 3, Open-Label Study Of The Safety And Effectiveness Of
  Oliceridine (TRV130), A G-Protein Selective Agonist At The μ-Opioid Receptor, In
  Patients With Moderate To Severe Acute Pain Requiring Parenteral Opioid Therapy. *Journal of Pain Research*, *12*, 3113–3126. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S217563
- Bianchi, E., Norcini, M., Smrcka, A., & Ghelardini, C. (2009). Supraspinal Gbetagammadependent stimulation of PLCbeta originating from G inhibitory protein-mu opioid receptor-coupling is necessary for morphine induced acute hyperalgesia. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *111*(1), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06308.x
- Binning, A. R., Przesmycki, K., Sowinski, P., Morrison, L. M. M., Smith, T. W., Marcus, P., Lees, J. P., & Dahan, A. (2011). A randomised controlled trial on the efficacy and side-effect profile (nausea/vomiting/sedation) of morphine-6-glucuronide versus morphine for post-operative pain relief after major abdominal surgery. *European Journal of Pain (London, England)*, *15*(4), 402–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2010.09.007

- Bohn, L. M., Gainetdinov, R. R., Lin, F. T., Lefkowitz, R. J., & Caron, M. G. (2000). Muopioid receptor desensitization by beta-arrestin-2 determines morphine tolerance but not dependence. *Nature*, 408(6813), 720–723. https://doi.org/10.1038/35047086
- Bohn, L. M., Lefkowitz, R. J., Gainetdinov, R. R., Peppel, K., Caron, M. G., & Lin, F. T. (1999). Enhanced morphine analgesia in mice lacking beta-arrestin 2. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 286(5449), 2495–2498.
- Bohn, Laura M., Gainetdinov, R. R., Sotnikova, T. D., Medvedev, I. O., Lefkowitz, R. J.,
  Dykstra, L. A., & Caron, M. G. (2003). Enhanced rewarding properties of morphine,
  but not cocaine, in beta(arrestin)-2 knock-out mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 23(32), 10265–10273.
- Bohn, Laura M., Lefkowitz, R. J., & Caron, M. G. (2002). Differential mechanisms of morphine antinociceptive tolerance revealed in (beta)arrestin-2 knock-out mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 22(23), 10494–10500.
- Bonacci, T. M., Mathews, J. L., Yuan, C., Lehmann, D. M., Malik, S., Wu, D., Font, J. L., Bidlack, J. M., & Smrcka, A. V. (2006). Differential targeting of Gbetagamma-subunit signaling with small molecules. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *312*(5772), 443–446. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1120378
- Bonnard, E., Poras, H., Nadal, X., Maldonado, R., Fournié-Zaluski, M.-C., & Roques, B. P. (2015). Long-lasting oral analgesic effects of N-protected aminophosphinic dual ENKephalinase inhibitors (DENKIs) in peripherally controlled pain. *Pharmacology Research & Perspectives*, 3(2), e00116. https://doi.org/10.1002/prp2.116
- Borras, M. C., Becerra, L., Ploghaus, A., Gostic, J. M., DaSilva, A., Gonzalez, R. G., & Borsook, D. (2004). fMRI measurement of CNS responses to naloxone infusion and

subsequent mild noxious thermal stimuli in healthy volunteers. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *91*(6), 2723–2733. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00249.2003

- Bouhassira, D., Lantéri-Minet, M., Attal, N., Laurent, B., & Touboul, C. (2008). Prevalence of chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in the general population. *Pain*, *136*(3), 380–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.08.013
- Boulanger, A., Clark, A. J., Squire, P., Cui, E., & Horbay, G. L. A. (2007). Chronic pain in Canada: have we improved our management of chronic noncancer pain? *Pain Research & Management*, 12(1), 39–47.
- Bourinet, E., Altier, C., Hildebrand, M. E., Trang, T., Salter, M. W., & Zamponi, G. W.
  (2014). Calcium-permeable ion channels in pain signaling. *Physiological Reviews*, 94(1), 81–140. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00023.2013
- Brady, L. S., & Holtzman, S. G. (1982). Analgesic effects of intraventricular morphine and enkephalins in nondependent and morphine-dependent rats. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 222(1), 190–197.
- Breivik, H., Collett, B., Ventafridda, V., Cohen, R., & Gallacher, D. (2006). Survey of chronic pain in Europe: Prevalence, impact on daily life, and treatment. *European Journal of Pain*, *10*(4), 287–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.06.009
- Brenner, D. M., Sayuk, G. S., Gutman, C. R., Jo, E., Elmes, S. J. R., Liu, L. W. C., & Cash,
  B. D. (2019). Efficacy and Safety of Eluxadoline in Patients With Irritable Bowel
  Syndrome With Diarrhea Who Report Inadequate Symptom Control With
  Loperamide: RELIEF Phase 4 Study. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *114*(9), 1502–1511. https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000000327
- Busse, J. W., Wang, L., Kamaleldin, M., Craigie, S., Riva, J. J., Montoya, L., Mulla, S. M.,Lopes, L. C., Vogel, N., Chen, E., Kirmayr, K., De Oliveira, K., Olivieri, L., Kaushal,A., Chaparro, L. E., Oyberman, I., Agarwal, A., Couban, R., Tsoi, L., ... Guyatt, G. H.

(2018). Opioids for Chronic Noncancer Pain: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *JAMA*, *320*(23), 2448–2460. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.18472

- Cai, Q., Qiu, C.-Y., Qiu, F., Liu, T.-T., Qu, Z.-W., Liu, Y.-M., & Hu, W.-P. (2014). Morphine inhibits acid-sensing ion channel currents in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. *Brain Research*, 1554, 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.042
- Campbell, D. J. (2017). Long-term neprilysin inhibition implications for ARNIs. *Nature Reviews. Cardiology*, *14*(3), 171–186. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2016.200
- Caterina, M., Leffler, A., Malmberg, A., Martin, W., Trafton, J., Petersen-Zeitz, K.,
  Koltzenburg, M., Basbaum, A., & Julius, D. (2000). Impaired nociception and pain
  sensation in mice lacking the capsaicin receptor. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 288(5464),
  306–319.
- Chang, K. J., Hazum, E., & Cuatrecasas, P. (1980). Possible role of distinct morphine and enkephalin receptors in mediating actins of benzomorphan drugs (putative kappa and sigma agonists). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 77(8), 4469–4473.
- Chapman, C. R., Lipschitz, D. L., Angst, M. S., Chou, R., Denisco, R. C., Donaldson, G. W.,
  Fine, P. G., Foley, K. M., Gallagher, R. M., Gilson, A. M., Haddox, J. D., Horn, S. D.,
  Inturrisi, C. E., Jick, S. S., Lipman, A. G., Loeser, J. D., Noble, M., Porter, L.,
  Rowbotham, M. C., ... Weisner, C. M. (2010). Opioid pharmacotherapy for chronic
  non-cancer pain in the United States: a research guideline for developing an evidencebase. *The Journal of Pain: Official Journal of the American Pain Society*, *11*(9), 807–
  829. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2010.02.019
- Chen, H., Noble, F., Roques, B. P., & Fournié-Zaluski, M. C. (2001). Long lasting antinociceptive properties of enkephalin degrading enzyme (NEP and APN) inhibitor prodrugs. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 44(21), 3523–3530.

- Chen, L., Chen, W., Qian, X., Fang, Y., & Zhu, N. (2014). Liquiritigenin alleviates mechanical and cold hyperalgesia in a rat neuropathic pain model. *Scientific Reports*, 4, 5676. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep05676
- Chen, Y., Geis, C., & Sommer, C. (2008). Activation of TRPV1 contributes to morphine tolerance: involvement of the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(22), 5836–5845. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4170-07.2008
- Chenaf, C., Delorme, J., Delage, N., Ardid, D., Eschalier, A., & Authier, N. (2018).
  Prevalence of chronic pain with or without neuropathic characteristics in France using the capture-recapture method: a population-based study. *Pain*, *159*(11), 2394–2402.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001347
- Chenaf, C., Kabore, J.-L., Delorme, J., Pereira, B., Mulliez, A., Roche, L., Eschalier, A., Delage, N., & Authier, N. (2016). Codeine Shopping Behavior in a Retrospective
  Cohort of Chronic Noncancer Pain Patients: Incidence and Risk Factors. *The Journal of Pain*, *17*(12), 1291–1301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2016.08.010
- Cheung, C. W., Chan, T. C., Chen, P. P., Chu, M. C., Chui, W. C., Ho, P. T., Lam, F., Law, S. W., Lee, J. L., Wong, S. H., & Wong, V. K. (2016). Opioid therapy for chronic non-cancer pain: guidelines for Hong Kong. *Hong Kong Medical Journal = Xianggang Yi Xue Za Zhi*, 22(5), 496–505. https://doi.org/10.12809/hkmj164920
- Chou, R., Fanciullo, G. J., Fine, P. G., Adler, J. A., Ballantyne, J. C., Davies, P., Donovan, M. I., Fishbain, D. A., Foley, K. M., Fudin, J., Gilson, A. M., Kelter, A., Mauskop, A., O'Connor, P. G., Passik, S. D., Pasternak, G. W., Portenoy, R. K., Rich, B. A., Roberts, R. G., ... Miaskowski, C. (2009). Clinical Guidelines for the Use of Chronic Opioid Therapy in Chronic Noncancer Pain. *The Journal of Pain*, *10*(2), 113-130.e22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2008.10.008

Cicero, T. J., & Ellis, M. S. (2015). Abuse-Deterrent Formulations and the Prescription
 Opioid Abuse Epidemic in the United States: Lessons Learned From OxyContin.
 JAMA Psychiatry, 72(5), 424–430. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.3043

Coniam, S. (1989). Prescribing opioids for chronic pain in non-malignant disease. 205–210.

- Crain, S. M., & Shen, K. F. (2000). Antagonists of excitatory opioid receptor functions enhance morphine's analgesic potency and attenuate opioid tolerance/dependence liability. *Pain*, 84(2–3), 121–131.
- Crain, S. M., Shen, K. F., & Chalazonitis, A. (1988). Opioids excite rather than inhibit sensory neurons after chronic opioid exposure of spinal cord-ganglion cultures. *Brain Research*, 455(1), 99–109.
- Cruciani, R. A., Dvorkin, B., Morris, S. A., Crain, S. M., & Makman, M. H. (1993). Direct coupling of opioid receptors to both stimulatory and inhibitory guanine nucleotide-binding proteins in F-11 neuroblastoma-sensory neuron hybrid cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(7), 3019–3023. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.7.3019
- Cruz, H. G., Berton, F., Sollini, M., Blanchet, C., Pravetoni, M., Wickman, K., & Lüscher, C. (2008). Absence and rescue of morphine withdrawal in GIRK/Kir3 knock-out mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(15), 4069–4077. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0267-08.2008
- Dahlhamer, J., Lucas, J., Zelaya, C., Nahin, R., Mackey, S., DeBar, L., Kerns, R., Von Korff,
  M., Porter, L., & Helmick, C. (2018). Prevalence of Chronic Pain and High-Impact
  Chronic Pain Among Adults United States, 2016. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 67(36), 1001–1006. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6736a2

- Dasgupta, N., Beletsky, L., & Ciccarone, D. (2018). Opioid Crisis: No Easy Fix to Its Social and Economic Determinants. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(2), 182–186. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304187
- Daugé, V., Mauborgne, A., Cesselin, F., Fournié-Zaluski, M. C., & Roques, B. P. (1996). The dual peptidase inhibitor RB101 induces a long-lasting increase in the extracellular level of Met-enkephalin-like material in the nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 67(3), 1301–1308.
- Dembla, S., Behrendt, M., Mohr, F., Goecke, C., Sondermann, J., Schneider, F. M., Schmidt, M., Stab, J., Enzeroth, R., Leitner, M. G., Nuñez-Badinez, P., Schwenk, J., Nürnberg, B., Cohen, A., Philipp, S. E., Greffrath, W., Bünemann, M., Oliver, D., Zakharian, E., ... Oberwinkler, J. (2017). Anti-nociceptive action of peripheral mu-opioid receptors by G-beta-gamma protein-mediated inhibition of TRPM3 channels. *ELife*, *6*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.26280
- Descoeur, J., Pereira, V., Pizzoccaro, A., Francois, A., Ling, B., Maffre, V., Couette, B.,
  Busserolles, J., Courteix, C., Noel, J., Lazdunski, M., Eschalier, A., Authier, N., &
  Bourinet, E. (2011). Oxaliplatin-induced cold hypersensitivity is due to remodelling of
  ion channel expression in nociceptors. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, *3*(5), 266–278.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/emmm.201100134
- Deuis, J. R., Dekan, Z., Wingerd, J. S., Smith, J. J., Munasinghe, N. R., Bhola, R. F., Imlach, W. L., Herzig, V., Armstrong, D. A., Rosengren, K. J., Bosmans, F., Waxman, S. G., Dib-Hajj, S. D., Escoubas, P., Minett, M. S., Christie, M. J., King, G. F., Alewood, P. F., Lewis, R. J., ... Vetter, I. (2017). Pharmacological characterisation of the highly NaV1.7 selective spider venom peptide Pn3a. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 40883. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40883

Devilliers, M., Busserolles, J., Lolignier, S., Deval, E., Pereira, V., Alloui, A., Christin, M.,
 Mazet, B., Delmas, P., Noel, J., Lazdunski, M., & Eschalier, A. (2013). Activation of
 TREK-1 by morphine results in analgesia without adverse side effects. *Nature Communications*, 4, 2941. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3941

DeWire, S. M., Yamashita, D. S., Rominger, D. H., Liu, G., Cowan, C. L., Graczyk, T. M., Chen, X.-T., Pitis, P. M., Gotchev, D., Yuan, C., Koblish, M., Lark, M. W., & Violin, J. D. (2013). A G protein-biased ligand at the μ-opioid receptor is potently analgesic with reduced gastrointestinal and respiratory dysfunction compared with morphine. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *344*(3), 708–717. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.112.201616

Ding, H., Kiguchi, N., Yasuda, D., Daga, P. R., Polgar, W. E., Lu, J. J., Czoty, P. W.,
Kishioka, S., Zaveri, N. T., & Ko, M.-C. (2018). A bifunctional nociceptin and mu
opioid receptor agonist is analgesic without opioid side effects in nonhuman primates. *Science Translational Medicine*, *10*(456).

https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aar3483

- Doğrul, A., Yeşilyurt, O., Işimer, A., & Güzeldemir, M. E. (2001). L-type and T-type calcium channel blockade potentiate the analgesic effects of morphine and selective mu opioid agonist, but not to selective delta and kappa agonist at the level of the spinal cord in mice. *Pain*, *93*(1), 61–68.
- Dogrul, A., Zagli, U., & Tulunay, F. C. (2002). The role of T-type calcium channels in morphine analgesia, development of antinociceptive tolerance and dependence to morphine, and morphine abstinence syndrome. *Life Sciences*, *71*(6), 725–734.
- Dueñas, M., Ojeda, B., Salazar, A., Mico, J. A., & Failde, I. (2016). A review of chronic pain impact on patients, their social environment and the health care system. *Journal of Pain Research*, 9, 457–467. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S105892

Ehrlich, A. T., Semache, M., Gross, F., Da Fonte, D. F., Runtz, L., Colley, C., Mezni, A., Le Gouill, C., Lukasheva, V., Hogue, M., Darcq, E., Bouvier, M., & Kieffer, B. L. (2019). Biased Signaling of the Mu Opioid Receptor Revealed in Native Neurons. *IScience*, *14*, 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2019.03.011

EMCDDA (Ed.). (2018). European Drug Report 2018: Trends and Developments (European Drug Report, p. 96). EMCDDA.

http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/edr/trends-developments/2018 (Archived at http://www.webcitation.org/77Ct6nNrs)

- Emery, E. C., Luiz, A. P., & Wood, J. N. (2016). Nav1.7 and other voltage-gated sodium channels as drug targets for pain relief. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, 20(8), 975–983. https://doi.org/10.1517/14728222.2016.1162295
- Emery, M. A., & Eitan, S. (2019). Members of the same pharmacological family are not alike:
  Different opioids, different consequences, hope for the opioid crisis? *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 92, 428–449.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2019.02.010
- Endres-Becker, J., Heppenstall, P. A., Mousa, S. A., Labuz, D., Oksche, A., Schäfer, M., Stein, C., & Zöllner, C. (2007). Mu-opioid receptor activation modulates transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) currents in sensory neurons in a model of inflammatory pain. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 71(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.106.026740
- Enyedi, P., & Czirják, G. (2010). Molecular background of leak K+ currents: two-pore domain potassium channels. *Physiological Reviews*, 90(2), 559–605. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00029.2009
- Eriksen, J., Jensen, M. K., Sjøgren, P., Ekholm, O., & Rasmussen, N. K. (2003). Epidemiology of chronic non-malignant pain in Denmark. *Pain*, *106*(3), 221–228.

Evans, R. M., You, H., Hameed, S., Altier, C., Mezghrani, A., Bourinet, E., & Zamponi, G.
W. (2010). Heterodimerization of ORL1 and opioid receptors and its consequences for
N-type calcium channel regulation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(2),
1032–1040. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.040634

Ewan, E. E., & Martin, T. J. (2013). Analgesics as reinforcers with chronic pain: Evidence from operant studies. *Neuroscience Letters*, 557, 60–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.08.018

- Feng, J., Lepetre-Mouelhi, S., Gautier, A., Mura, S., Cailleau, C., Coudore, F., Hamon, M., & Couvreur, P. (2019). A new painkiller nanomedicine to bypass the blood-brain barrier and the use of morphine. *Science Advances*, 5(2), eaau5148. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aau5148
- Fink, D. J., Wechuck, J., Mata, M., Glorioso, J. C., Goss, J., Krisky, D., & Wolfe, D. (2011). Gene therapy for pain: results of a phase I clinical trial. *Annals of Neurology*, 70(2), 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22446
- Francois, A., Kerckhove, N., Meleine, M., Alloui, A., Barrere, C., Gelot, A., Uebele, V. N., Renger, J. J., Eschalier, A., Ardid, D., & Bourinet, E. (2013). State-dependent properties of a new T-type calcium channel blocker enhance Ca(V)3.2 selectivity and support analgesic effects. *Pain*, 154(2), 283–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2012.10.023
- Galandrin, S., Oligny-Longpré, G., & Bouvier, M. (2007). The evasive nature of drug efficacy: implications for drug discovery. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 28(8), 423–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2007.06.005
- Gallagher, H., & Galvin, D. (2018). Opioids for chronic non-cancer pain. *BJA Education*, 18(11), 337–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjae.2018.06.006

- Goldstein, A., & Naidu, A. (1989). Multiple opioid receptors: ligand selectivity profiles and binding site signatures. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *36*(2), 265–272.
- Gomes, I., Fujita, W., Gupta, A., Saldanha, S. A., Saldanha, A. S., Negri, A., Pinello, C. E.,
  Eberhart, C., Roberts, E., Filizola, M., Hodder, P., & Devi, L. A. (2013). Identification of a μ-δ opioid receptor heteromer-biased agonist with antinociceptive activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(29), 12072–12077. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1222044110
- González-Rodríguez, S., Álvarez, M. G., García-Domínguez, M., Lastra, A., Cernuda-Cernuda, R., Folgueras, A. R., Fernández-García, M. T., Hidalgo, A., Baamonde, A., & Menéndez, L. (2017). Hyperalgesic and hypoalgesic mechanisms evoked by the acute administration of CCL5 in mice. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 62, 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.01.014
- Goodman, O. B., Krupnick, J. G., Santini, F., Gurevich, V. V., Penn, R. B., Gagnon, A. W.,
  Keen, J. H., & Benovic, J. L. (1996). Beta-arrestin acts as a clathrin adaptor in
  endocytosis of the beta2-adrenergic receptor. *Nature*, *383*(6599), 447–450.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/383447a0
- Grinnell, S. G., Ansonoff, M., Marrone, G. F., Lu, Z., Narayan, A., Xu, J., Rossi, G.,
  Majumdar, S., Pan, Y.-X., Bassoni, D. L., Pintar, J., & Pasternak, G. (2016).
  Mediation of buprenorphine analgesia by a combination of traditional and truncated
  mu opioid receptor splice variants. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)*, 70(10), 395–407.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.21914
- Gudin, J., Rauck, R., Argoff, C., Agaiby, E., Gimbel, J., Katz, N., Doberstein, S. K.,
  Tagliaferri, M., Tagliaferri, M., Potts, J., Wild, J., Lu, L., Siddhanti, S., Hale, M., &
  Markman, J. (2019). Long-term Safety and Tolerability of NKTR-181 in Patients with
  Moderate to Severe Chronic Low Back Pain or Chronic Noncancer Pain: A Phase 3

Multicenter, Open-Label, 52-Week Study (SUMMIT-08 LTS). *Pain Medicine* (*Malden, Mass.*). https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnz169

- Guedon, J.-M. G., Wu, S., Zheng, X., Churchill, C. C., Glorioso, J. C., Liu, C.-H., Liu, S.,
  Vulchanova, L., Bekker, A., Tao, Y.-X., Kinchington, P. R., Goins, W. F., Fairbanks,
  C. A., & Hao, S. (2015). Current gene therapy using viral vectors for chronic pain. *Molecular Pain*, 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12990-015-0018-1
- Hanna, M. H., Elliott, K. M., & Fung, M. (2005). Randomized, double-blind study of the analgesic efficacy of morphine-6-glucuronide versus morphine sulfate for postoperative pain in major surgery. *Anesthesiology*, 102(4), 815–821.
- Häuser, W., Bock, F., Engeser, P., Tölle, T., Willweber-Strumpfe, A., & Petzke, F. (2014).
  Long-term opioid use in non-cancer pain. *Deutsches Arzteblatt International*, *111*(43), 732–740. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2014.0732
- Häuser, W., Schug, S., & Furlan, A. D. (2017). The opioid epidemic and national guidelines for opioid therapy for chronic noncancer pain: a perspective from different continents. *Pain Reports*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.00000000000599
- Heinke, B., Gingl, E., & Sandkühler, J. (2011). Multiple targets of μ-opioid receptor-mediated presynaptic inhibition at primary afferent Aδ- and C-fibers. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *31*(4), 1313–1322. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4060-10.2011
- Hill, R., Disney, A., Conibear, A., Sutcliffe, K., Dewey, W., Husbands, S., Bailey, C., Kelly,
  E., & Henderson, G. (2018). The novel μ-opioid receptor agonist PZM21 depresses
  respiration and induces tolerance to antinociception. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 175(13), 2653–2661. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.14224
- Ho, K. Y., Chua, N. H., George, J. M., Yeo, S. N., Main, N. B., Choo, C. Y., Tan, J. W., Tan,K. H., Ng, B. Y., & Pain Association of Singapore Task Force. (2013). Evidence-

based guidelines on the use of opioids in chronic non-cancer pain--a consensus statement by the Pain Association of Singapore Task Force. *Annals of the Academy of Medicine, Singapore, 42*(3), 138–152.

- Horikawa, S., Takai, T., Toyosato, M., Takahashi, H., Noda, M., Kakidani, H., Kubo, T.,
  Hirose, T., Inayama, S., & Hayashida, H. (1983). Isolation and structural organization of the human preproenkephalin B gene. *Nature*, *306*(5943), 611–614.
- Hua, S., & Cabot, P. J. (2013). Targeted nanoparticles that mimic immune cells in pain control inducing analgesic and anti-inflammatory actions: a potential novel treatment of acute and chronic pain condition. *Pain Physician*, *16*(3), E199-216.
- Hughes, J., Smith, T., Morgan, B., & Fothergill, L. (1975). Purification and properties of enkephalin - the possible endogenous ligand for the morphine receptor. *Life Sciences*, 16(12), 1753–1758.
- Iegorova, O., Fisyunov, A., & Krishtal, O. (2010). G-protein-independent modulation of Ptype calcium channels by mu-opioids in Purkinje neurons of rat. *Neuroscience Letters*, 480(2), 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2010.06.015
- Ikeda, K., Kobayashi, T., Kumanishi, T., Niki, H., & Yano, R. (2000). Involvement of Gprotein-activated inwardly rectifying K (GIRK) channels in opioid-induced analgesia. *Neuroscience Research*, 38(1), 113–116.
- Jagla, C., Martus, P., & Stein, C. (2014). Peripheral opioid receptor blockade increases postoperative morphine demands--a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Pain*, 155(10), 2056–2062. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.07.011
- Joshi, S. K., Lamb, K., Bielefeldt, K., & Gebhart, G. F. (2003). Arylacetamide kappa-opioid receptor agonists produce a tonic- and use-dependent block of tetrodotoxin-sensitive and -resistant sodium currents in colon sensory neurons. *The Journal of Pharmacology*

*and Experimental Therapeutics*, *307*(1), 367–372. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.103.052829

- Kahan, M., Mailis-Gagnon, A., Wilson, L., Srivastava, A., & National Opioid Use Guideline
  Group. (2011). Canadian guideline for safe and effective use of opioids for chronic
  noncancer pain: clinical summary for family physicians. Part 1: general population. *Canadian Family Physician Medecin De Famille Canadien*, *57*(11), 1257–1266, e407418.
- Kahan, M., Wilson, L., Mailis-Gagnon, A., Srivastava, A., & National Opioid Use Guideline
  Group. (2011). Canadian guideline for safe and effective use of opioids for chronic
  noncancer pain: clinical summary for family physicians. Part 2: special populations. *Canadian Family Physician Medecin De Famille Canadien*, 57(11), 1269–1276, e419428.
- Kalso, E. (1999). [New opioid preparations in the treatment of pain]. *Duodecim; Laaketieteellinen Aikakauskirja*, *115*(20), 2211–2214.
- Kalso, Eija. (2005). Opioids for persistent non-cancer pain. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, *330*(7484), 156–157. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.330.7484.156
- Kalso, Eija, Allan, L., Dellemijn, P. L. I., Faura, C. C., Ilias, W. K., Jensen, T. S., Perrot, S., Plaghki, L. H., & Zenz, M. (2003). Recommendations for using opioids in chronic non-cancer pain. *European Journal of Pain (London, England)*, 7(5), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-3801(02)00143-X
- Kandasamy, R., & Price, T. J. (2015). The pharmacology of nociceptor priming. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, 227, 15–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-46450-2\_2
- Kayser, V., Fournie-Zaluski, M. C., Guilbaud, G., & Roques, B. P. (1989). Potent antinociceptive effects of kelatorphan (a highly efficient inhibitor of multiple

enkephalin-degrading enzymes) systemically administered in normal and arthritic rats. *Brain Research*, 497(1), 94–101.

- Khanna, R., Yu, J., Yang, X., Moutal, A., Chefdeville, A., Gokhale, V., Shuja, Z., Chew, L.
  A., Bellampalli, S. S., Luo, S., François-Moutal, L., Serafini, M. J., Ha, T., PerezMiller, S., Park, K. D., Patwardhan, A. M., Streicher, J. M., Colecraft, H. M., &
  Khanna, M. (2019). Targeting the CaVα-CaVβ interaction yields an antagonist of the
  N-type CaV2.2 channel with broad antinociceptive efficacy. *Pain.*https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001524
- Khasabova, I. A., Harding-Rose, C., Simone, D. A., & Seybold, V. S. (2004). Differential effects of CB1 and opioid agonists on two populations of adult rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 24(7), 1744–1753. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4298-03.2004
- Kim, C. J., Rhee, J. S., & Akaike, N. (1997). Modulation of high-voltage activated Ca2+ channels in the rat periaqueductal gray neurons by mu-type opioid agonist. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 77(3), 1418–1424. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1997.77.3.1418
- Kliewer, A., Schmiedel, F., Sianati, S., Bailey, A., Bateman, J. T., Levitt, E. S., Williams, J. T., Christie, M. J., & Schulz, S. (2019). Phosphorylation-deficient G-protein-biased µ-opioid receptors improve analgesia and diminish tolerance but worsen opioid side effects. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 367. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-08162-1
- Kosterlitz, H. W., Lord, J. A., Paterson, S. J., & Waterfield, A. A. (1980). Effects of changes in the structure of enkephalins and of narcotic analgesic drugs on their interactions with mu- and delta-receptors. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *68*(2), 333–342.

- Krügel, U., Straub, I., Beckmann, H., & Schaefer, M. (2017). Primidone inhibits TRPM3 and attenuates thermal nociception in vivo. *Pain*, 158(5), 856–867. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000846
- Kuehn, B. (2018). Chronic Pain Prevalence. *JAMA*, *320*(16), 1632. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.16009

Lacy, B. E., Harris, L. A., Chang, L., Lucak, S., Gutman, C., Dove, L. S., Covington, P. S., & Lembo, A. (2019). Impact of patient and disease characteristics on the efficacy and safety of eluxadoline for IBS-D: a subgroup analysis of phase III trials. *Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology*, *12*, 1756284819841290.
https://doi.org/10.1177/1756284819841290

- Lai, J., Luo, M., Chen, Q., & Porreca, F. (2008). Pronociceptive actions of dynorphin via bradykinin receptors. *Neuroscience Letters*, 437(3), 175–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.03.088
- Lanier, R. K., Henningfield, J. E., Gudin, J., Rauck, R., Elder, H., Erpelding, N., Treister, R., Gimbel, J., Tagliaferri, M., Doberstein, S. K., Di Fonzo, C. J., Lu, L., Siddhanti, S., & Katz, N. P. (2019). Assessment of potentially abuse-related events in two phase 3 studies of NKTR-181, a novel opioid analgesic, using the MADDERS® system (Misuse, Abuse, and Diversion Drug Event Reporting System). *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/03007995.2019.1594744
- Large, R. G., & Schug, S. A. (1995). Opioids for chronic pain of non-malignant origin--caring or crippling. *Health Care Analysis: HCA: Journal of Health Philosophy and Policy*, 3(1), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02197187
- Largent-Milnes, T. M., Brookshire, S. W., Skinner, D. P., Hanlon, K. E., Giuvelis, D.,Yamamoto, T., Davis, P., Campos, C. R., Nair, P., Deekonda, S., Bilsky, E. J.,Porreca, F., Hruby, V. J., & Vanderah, T. W. (2013). Building a better analgesic:

multifunctional compounds that address injury-induced pathology to enhance analgesic efficacy while eliminating unwanted side effects. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *347*(1), 7–19. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.113.205245

- Le Guen, S., Mas Nieto, M., Canestrelli, C., Chen, H., Fournié-Zaluski, M.-C., Cupo, A., Maldonado, R., Roques, B. P., & Noble, F. (2003). Pain management by a new series of dual inhibitors of enkephalin degrading enzymes: long lasting antinociceptive properties and potentiation by CCK2 antagonist or methadone. *Pain*, *104*(1–2), 139– 148.
- Lehto, S. G., Tamir, R., Deng, H., Klionsky, L., Kuang, R., Le, A., Lee, D., Louis, J.-C., Magal, E., Manning, B. H., Rubino, J., Surapaneni, S., Tamayo, N., Wang, T., Wang, J., Wang, J., Wang, W., Youngblood, B., Zhang, M., ... Gavva, N. R. (2008). Antihyperalgesic effects of (R,E)-N-(2-hydroxy-2,3-dihydro-1H-inden-4-yl)-3-(2-(piperidin-1-yl)-4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)-acrylamide (AMG8562), a novel transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 modulator that does not cause hyperthermia in rats. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *326*(1), 218–229. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.107.132233
- Lembo, A. J., Lacy, B. E., Zuckerman, M. J., Schey, R., Dove, L. S., Andrae, D. A.,
  Davenport, J. M., McIntyre, G., Lopez, R., Turner, L., & Covington, P. S. (2016).
  Eluxadoline for Irritable Bowel Syndrome with Diarrhea. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 374(3), 242–253. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1505180
- Lesage, F., & Lazdunski, M. (2000). Molecular and functional properties of two-pore-domain potassium channels. *American Journal of Physiology. Renal Physiology*, 279(5), F793-801. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.2000.279.5.F793

Lesage, Florian. (2003). Pharmacology of neuronal background potassium channels. *Neuropharmacology*, *44*(1), 1–7.

- Levine, J. D., Gordon, N. C., Jones, R. T., & Fields, H. L. (1978). The narcotic antagonist naloxone enhances clinical pain. *Nature*, 272(5656), 826–827.
- Levitt, E. S., Abdala, A. P., Paton, J. F. R., Bissonnette, J. M., & Williams, J. T. (2015). μ
   opioid receptor activation hyperpolarizes respiratory-controlling Kölliker-Fuse
   neurons and suppresses post-inspiratory drive. *The Journal of Physiology*, *593*(19),
   4453–4469. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270822
- Li, H., Qiao, H., Lu, H., & Liu, C. (2014). Evaluation of the peripheral analgesic effect of sufertanil lipid nanoparticles. *Journal of Anesthesia*, 28(5), 702–707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00540-014-1795-9
- Liang, D.-Y., Li, W.-W., Nwaneshiudu, C., Irvine, K.-A., & Clark, J. D. (2018).
  Pharmacological Characters of Oliceridine, a µ-Opioid Receptor G-Protein[FIGURE DASH]Biased Ligand in Mice. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*.
  https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.00000000003662
- Litman, R. S., Pagán, O. H., & Cicero, T. J. (2018). Abuse-deterrent Opioid Formulations. Anesthesiology: The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists, 128(5), 1015–1026. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.00000000002031
- Little, H. J. (1991). The role of neuronal calcium channels in dependence on ethanol and other sedatives/hypnotics. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *50*(3), 347–365.
- Lohse, M. J., Benovic, J. L., Codina, J., Caron, M. G., & Lefkowitz, R. J. (1990). beta-Arrestin: a protein that regulates beta-adrenergic receptor function. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 248(4962), 1547–1550.

- Lu, Z., Xu, J., Rossi, G. C., Majumdar, S., Pasternak, G. W., & Pan, Y.-X. (2015). Mediation of opioid analgesia by a truncated 6-transmembrane GPCR. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 125(7), 2626–2630. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI81070
- Lüscher, C., & Slesinger, P. A. (2010). Emerging roles for G protein-gated inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels in health and disease. *Nature Reviews*. *Neuroscience*, 11(5), 301–315. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2834
- Macfarlane, G. J. (2016). The epidemiology of chronic pain. *Pain*, *157*(10), 2158–2159. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000676
- Maingret, F., Lauritzen, I., Patel, A. J., Heurteaux, C., Reyes, R., Lesage, F., Lazdunski, M.,
  & Honoré, E. (2000). TREK-1 is a heat-activated background K(+) channel. *The EMBO Journal*, 19(11), 2483–2491. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.11.2483
- Majumdar, S., Grinnell, S., Le Rouzic, V., Burgman, M., Polikar, L., Ansonoff, M., Pintar, J., Pan, Y.-X., & Pasternak, G. W. (2011). Truncated G protein-coupled mu opioid receptor MOR-1 splice variants are targets for highly potent opioid analgesics lacking side effects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *108*(49), 19778–19783. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115231108
- Manchikanti, L., Abdi, S., Atluri, S., Balog, C. C., Benyamin, R. M., Boswell, M. V., Brown, K. R., Bruel, B. M., Bryce, D. A., Burks, P. A., Burton, A. W., Calodney, A. K., Caraway, D. L., Cash, K. A., Christo, P. J., Damron, K. S., Datta, S., Deer, T. R., Diwan, S., ... American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians. (2012a). American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians (ASIPP) guidelines for responsible opioid prescribing in chronic non-cancer pain: Part 2--guidance. *Pain Physician*, *15*(3 Suppl), S67-116.
- Manchikanti, L., Abdi, S., Atluri, S., Balog, C. C., Benyamin, R. M., Boswell, M. V., Brown, K. R., Bruel, B. M., Bryce, D. A., Burks, P. A., Burton, A. W., Calodney, A. K.,

Caraway, D. L., Cash, K. A., Christo, P. J., Damron, K. S., Datta, S., Deer, T. R., Diwan, S., ... American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians. (2012b). American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians (ASIPP) guidelines for responsible opioid prescribing in chronic non-cancer pain: Part I--evidence assessment. *Pain Physician*, *15*(3 Suppl), S1-65.

- Manchikanti, L., Helm, S., Fellows, B., Janata, J. W., Pampati, V., Grider, J. S., & Boswell, M. V. (2012). Opioid epidemic in the United States. *Pain Physician*, 15(3 Suppl), ES9-38.
- Manchikanti, L., Kaye, A. M., Knezevic, N. N., McAnally, H., Slavin, K., Trescot, A. M.,
  Blank, S., Pampati, V., Abdi, S., Grider, J. S., Kaye, A. D., Manchikanti, K. N.,
  Cordner, H., Gharibo, C. G., Harned, M. E., Albers, S. L., Atluri, S., Aydin, S. M.,
  Bakshi, S., ... Hirsch, J. A. (2017). Responsible, Safe, and Effective Prescription of
  Opioids for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain: American Society of Interventional Pain
  Physicians (ASIPP) Guidelines. *Pain Physician*, 20(2S), S3–S92.
- Manglik, A., Lin, H., Aryal, D. K., McCorvy, J. D., Dengler, D., Corder, G., Levit, A., Kling,
  R. C., Bernat, V., Hübner, H., Huang, X.-P., Sassano, M. F., Giguère, P. M., Löber, S.,
  Da Duan, null, Scherrer, G., Kobilka, B. K., Gmeiner, P., Roth, B. L., & Shoichet, B.
  K. (2016). Structure-based discovery of opioid analgesics with reduced side effects. *Nature*, *537*(7619), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19112
- Margolis, E. B., Fujita, W., Devi, L. A., & Fields, H. L. (2017). Two delta opioid receptor subtypes are functional in single ventral tegmental area neurons, and can interact with the mu opioid receptor. *Neuropharmacology*, *123*, 420–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.06.019
- Marker, C. L., Stoffel, M., & Wickman, K. (2004). Spinal G-protein-gated K+ channels formed by GIRK1 and GIRK2 subunits modulate thermal nociception and contribute

to morphine analgesia. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *24*(11), 2806–2812. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5251-03.2004

- Markman, J., Gudin, J., Rauck, R., Argoff, C., Rowbotham, M., Agaiby, E., Gimbel, J., Katz, N., Doberstein, S. K., Tagliaferri, M., Lu, L., Siddhanti, S., & Hale, M. (2019).
  SUMMIT-07: a randomized trial of NKTR-181, a new molecular entity, full muopioid receptor agonist for chronic low-back pain. *Pain*, *160*(6), 1374–1382.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001517
- Mathews, J. L., Smrcka, A. V., & Bidlack, J. M. (2008). A novel Gbetagamma-subunit inhibitor selectively modulates mu-opioid-dependent antinociception and attenuates acute morphine-induced antinociceptive tolerance and dependence. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(47), 12183–12189. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2326-08.2008
- Mathie, A., & Veale, E. L. (2007). Therapeutic potential of neuronal two-pore domain potassium-channel modulators. *Current Opinion in Investigational Drugs (London, England: 2000)*, 8(7), 555–562.
- Matthes, H. W., Maldonado, R., Simonin, F., Valverde, O., Slowe, S., Kitchen, I., Befort, K., Dierich, A., Le Meur, M., Dollé, P., Tzavara, E., Hanoune, J., Roques, B. P., & Kieffer, B. L. (1996). Loss of morphine-induced analgesia, reward effect and withdrawal symptoms in mice lacking the mu-opioid-receptor gene. *Nature*, *383*(6603), 819–823. https://doi.org/10.1038/383819a0

Melzack, R. (1990). The tragedy of needless pain. Scientific American, 262(2), 27-33.

Menéndez, L., Hidalgo, A., Meana, A., Poras, H., Fournié-Zaluski, M.-C., Roques, B. P., &
Baamonde, A. (2008). Inhibition of osteosarcoma-induced thermal hyperalgesia in
mice by the orally active dual enkephalinase inhibitor PL37. Potentiation by

gabapentin. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *596*(1–3), 50–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.07.043

- Meynadier, J., Dalmas, S., Lecomte, J. M., Gros, Ci., & et al. (1988). Potent analgesic effects of inhibitors of enkephalin metabolism administered intrathecally to cancer patients. *The Pain Clinic*, 2(4), 201–205.
- Miguez, G., Laborda, M. A., & Miller, R. R. (2014). Classical conditioning and pain: conditioned analgesia and hyperalgesia. *Acta Psychologica*, 145, 10–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2013.10.009
- Minett, M. S., Pereira, V., Sikandar, S., Matsuyama, A., Lolignier, S., Kanellopoulos, A. H.,
  Mancini, F., Iannetti, G. D., Bogdanov, Y. D., Santana-Varela, S., Millet, Q.,
  Baskozos, G., MacAllister, R., Cox, J. J., Zhao, J., & Wood, J. N. (2015). Endogenous opioids contribute to insensitivity to pain in humans and mice lacking sodium channel Nav1.7. *Nature Communications*, *6*, 8967. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9967
- Mirkovic, K., Palmersheim, J., Lesage, F., & Wickman, K. (2012). Behavioral characterization of mice lacking Trek channels. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 6, 60. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2012.00060
- Mitrovic, I., Margeta-Mitrovic, M., Bader, S., Stoffel, M., Jan, L. Y., & Basbaum, A. I.
  (2003). Contribution of GIRK2-mediated postsynaptic signaling to opiate and alpha 2adrenergic analgesia and analgesic sex differences. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(1), 271–276. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0136822100
- Miyazaki, T., Choi, I. Y., Rubas, W., Anand, N. K., Ali, C., Evans, J., Gursahani, H.,
  Hennessy, M., Kim, G., McWeeney, D., Pfeiffer, J., Quach, P., Gauvin, D., Riley, T.
  A., Riggs, J. A., Gogas, K., Zalevsky, J., & Doberstein, S. K. (2017). NKTR-181: A
  Novel Mu-Opioid Analgesic with Inherently Low Abuse Potential. *The Journal of*

Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 363(1), 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.117.243030

Montandon, G., Liu, H., & Horner, R. L. (2016). Contribution of the respiratory network to rhythm and motor output revealed by modulation of GIRK channels, somatostatin and neurokinin-1 receptors. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 32707. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep32707

Nassirpour, R., Bahima, L., Lalive, A. L., Lüscher, C., Luján, R., & Slesinger, P. A. (2010). Morphine- and CaMKII-dependent enhancement of GIRK channel signaling in hippocampal neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 30*(40), 13419–13430.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2966-10.2010

- Nguyen, T.-L., Nam, Y.-S., Lee, S.-Y., Kim, H.-C., & Jang, C.-G. (2010). Effects of capsazepine, a transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 antagonist, on morphineinduced antinociception, tolerance, and dependence in mice. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 105(5), 668–674. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aeq212
- Niiyama, Y., Kawamata, T., Yamamoto, J., Omote, K., & Namiki, A. (2007). Bone cancer increases transient receptor potential vanilloid subfamily 1 expression within distinct subpopulations of dorsal root ganglion neurons. *Neuroscience*, *148*(2), 560–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.05.049
- Noble, F., Benturquia, N., Bilkei-Gorzo, A., Zimmer, A., & Roques, B. P. (2008). Use of preproenkephalin knockout mice and selective inhibitors of enkephalinases to investigate the role of enkephalins in various behaviours. *Psychopharmacology*, *196*(2), 327–335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-007-0964-z
- Noda, M., Furutani, Y., Takahashi, H., Toyosato, M., Hirose, T., Inayama, S., Nakanishi, S.,
  & Numa, S. (1982). Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA for bovine adrenal preproenkephalin. *Nature*, 295(5846), 202–206.

Noël, J., Zimmermann, K., Busserolles, J., Deval, E., Alloui, A., Diochot, S., Guy, N.,
Borsotto, M., Reeh, P., Eschalier, A., & Lazdunski, M. (2009). The mechano-activated
K+ channels TRAAK and TREK-1 control both warm and cold perception. *The EMBO Journal*, 28(9), 1308–1318. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2009.57

- Nowycky, M. C., Fox, A. P., & Tsien, R. W. (1985). Three types of neuronal calcium channel with different calcium agonist sensitivity. *Nature*, *316*(6027), 440–443.
- O'Neill, J., Brock, C., Olesen, A. E., Andresen, T., Nilsson, M., & Dickenson, A. H. (2012). Unravelling the mystery of capsaicin: a tool to understand and treat pain. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 64(4), 939–971. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.112.006163
- Pan, Y.-X., Xu, J., Xu, M., Rossi, G. C., Matulonis, J. E., & Pasternak, G. W. (2009).
  Involvement of exon 11-associated variants of the mu opioid receptor MOR-1 in heroin, but not morphine, actions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*(12), 4917–4922.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811586106
- Park, C., Kim, J.-H., Yoon, B.-E., Choi, E.-J., Lee, C., & Shin, H.-S. (2010). T-type channels control the opioidergic descending analgesia at the low threshold-spiking GABAergic neurons in the periaqueductal gray. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 33), 14857–14862.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1009532107
- Pasternak, G. W., & Pan, Y.-X. (2013). Mu opioids and their receptors: evolution of a concept. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 65(4), 1257–1317. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.112.007138

Patel, A. J., Honoré, E., Maingret, F., Lesage, F., Fink, M., Duprat, F., & Lazdunski, M. (1998). A mammalian two pore domain mechano-gated S-like K+ channel. *The EMBO Journal*, *17*(15), 4283–4290. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.15.4283

- Pereira, M. P., Werner, M. U., Dahl, J. B., Pereira, M. P., Utke Werner, M., & Berg Dahl, J. (2015). Effect of a high-dose target-controlled naloxone infusion on pain and hyperalgesia in patients following groin hernia repair: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, *16*, 511. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-1021-6
- Pereira, V., Millet, Q., Aramburu, J., Lopez-Rodriguez, C., Gaveriaux-Ruff, C., & Wood, J.
  N. (2018). Analgesia linked to Nav1.7 loss of function requires μ- and δ-opioid receptors. *Wellcome Open Research*, *3*, 101.
  https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.14687.1

- Petzke, F. (2015). [Long-term administration of opioids for non-tumor pain LONTS guideline provides an orientation]. *Anasthesiologie, Intensivmedizin, Notfallmedizin, Schmerztherapie: AINS*, 50(10), 606–612. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0041-107055
- Picard, P. R., Tramèr, M. R., McQuay, H. J., & Moore, R. A. (1997). Analgesic efficacy of peripheral opioids (all except intra-articular): a qualitative systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *Pain*, 72(3), 309–318.
- Podvin, S., Yaksh, T., & Hook, V. (2016). The Emerging Role of Spinal Dynorphin in Chronic Pain: A Therapeutic Perspective. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 56, 511–533. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010715-103042
- Popik, P., Kamysz, E., Kreczko, J., & Wróbel, M. (2010). Human opiorphin: the lack of physiological dependence, tolerance to antinociceptive effects and abuse liability in laboratory mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *213*(1), 88–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2010.04.045

- Portenoy, R. K., & Foley, K. M. (1986). Chronic use of opioid analgesics in non-malignant pain: report of 38 cases. *Pain*, 25(2), 171–186.
- Poupon, L., Lamoine, S., Pereira, V., Barriere, D. A., Lolignier, S., Giraudet, F., Aissouni, Y., Meleine, M., Prival, L., Richard, D., Kerckhove, N., Authier, N., Balayssac, D., Eschalier, A., Lazdunski, M., & Busserolles, J. (2018). Targeting the TREK-1 potassium channel via riluzole to eliminate the neuropathic and depressive-like effects of oxaliplatin. *Neuropharmacology*, *140*, 43–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.07.026
- Quallo, T., Alkhatib, O., Gentry, C., Andersson, D. A., & Bevan, S. (2017). G protein βγ subunits inhibit TRPM3 ion channels in sensory neurons. *ELife*, 6. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.26138
- Raehal, K. M., Walker, J. K. L., & Bohn, L. M. (2005). Morphine side effects in beta-arrestin 2 knockout mice. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 314(3), 1195–1201. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.087254
- Raffa, R. B., Pergolizzi, J. V., Taylor, R., Ossipov, M. H., & By the NEMA Research Group.
  (2018). Indirect-acting strategy of opioid action instead of direct receptor activation:
  dual-acting enkephalinase inhibitors (DENKIs). *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 43(4), 443–449. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpt.12687
- Reilly, R. M., McDonald, H. A., Puttfarcken, P. S., Joshi, S. K., Lewis, L., Pai, M., Franklin,
  P. H., Segreti, J. A., Neelands, T. R., Han, P., Chen, J., Mantyh, P. W., Ghilardi, J. R.,
  Turner, T. M., Voight, E. A., Daanen, J. F., Schmidt, R. G., Gomtsyan, A., Kort, M.
  E., ... Kym, P. R. (2012). Pharmacology of modality-specific transient receptor
  potential vanilloid-1 antagonists that do not alter body temperature. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 342(2), 416–428.
  https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.111.190314

- Reinecke, H., Sorgatz, H., & German Society for the Study of Pain (DGSS). (2009). [S3 guideline LONTS. Long-term administration of opioids for non-tumor pain]. *Schmerz (Berlin, Germany)*, 23(5), 440–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00482-009-0839-9
- Reinecke, H., Weber, C., Lange, K., Simon, M., Stein, C., & Sorgatz, H. (2015). Analgesic efficacy of opioids in chronic pain: recent meta-analyses. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 172(2), 324–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12634
- Rodrigues, N., Bennis, K., Vivier, D., Pereira, V., C Chatelain, F., Chapuy, E., Deokar, H.,
  Busserolles, J., Lesage, F., Eschalier, A., & Ducki, S. (2014). Synthesis and structureactivity relationship study of substituted caffeate esters as antinociceptive agents modulating the TREK-1 channel. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 75, 391– 402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.01.049
- Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi, A., Spahn, V., Labuz, D., Machelska, H., & Stein, C. (2018).
  Analgesic effects of a novel pH-dependent μ-opioid receptor agonist in models of neuropathic and abdominal pain. *Pain*, *159*(11), 2277–2284.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001328
- Roques, B. P., Fournié-Zaluski, M. C., Soroca, E., Lecomte, J. M., Malfroy, B., Llorens, C.,
  & Schwartz, J. C. (1980). The enkephalinase inhibitor thiorphan shows antinociceptive activity in mice. *Nature*, 288(5788), 286–288.
- Roques, Bernard P., Fournié-Zaluski, M.-C., & Wurm, M. (2012). Inhibiting the breakdown of endogenous opioids and cannabinoids to alleviate pain. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 11(4), 292–310. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3673
- Rougeot, C., Robert, F., Menz, L., Bisson, J.-F., & Messaoudi, M. (2010). Systemically active human opiorphin is a potent yet non-addictive analgesic without drug tolerance effects. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology: An Official Journal of the Polish Physiological Society*, 61(4), 483–490.

Rowan, M. P., Bierbower, S. M., Eskander, M. A., Szteyn, K., Por, E. D., Gomez, R., Veldhuis, N., Bunnett, N. W., & Jeske, N. A. (2014). Activation of mu opioid receptors sensitizes transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 (TRPV1) via β-arrestin-2-mediated cross-talk. *PloS One*, *9*(4), e93688.
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093688

- Rummans, T. A., Burton, M. C., & Dawson, N. L. (2018). How Good Intentions Contributed to Bad Outcomes: The Opioid Crisis. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 93(3), 344–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2017.12.020
- Saegusa, H., Kurihara, T., Zong, S., Minowa, O., Kazuno, A., Han, W., Matsuda, Y.,
  Yamanaka, H., Osanai, M., Noda, T., & Tanabe, T. (2000). Altered pain responses in mice lacking alpha 1E subunit of the voltage-dependent Ca2+ channel. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(11), 6132–6137. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.100124197
- Sanford, M. (2013). Intrathecal ziconotide: a review of its use in patients with chronic pain refractory to other systemic or intrathecal analgesics. *CNS Drugs*, 27(11), 989–1002. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-013-0107-5
- Schmid, C. L., Kennedy, N. M., Ross, N. C., Lovell, K. M., Yue, Z., Morgenweck, J.,
  Cameron, M. D., Bannister, T. D., & Bohn, L. M. (2017). Bias Factor and Therapeutic
  Window Correlate to Predict Safer Opioid Analgesics. *Cell*, *171*(5), 1165-1175.e13.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.035
- Schuller, A. G., King, M. A., Zhang, J., Bolan, E., Pan, Y. X., Morgan, D. J., Chang, A.,
  Czick, M. E., Unterwald, E. M., Pasternak, G. W., & Pintar, J. E. (1999). Retention of heroin and morphine-6 beta-glucuronide analgesia in a new line of mice lacking exon 1 of MOR-1. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2(2), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/5706

Shibasaki, M., Kurokawa, K., Katsura, M., & Ohkuma, S. (2009). Direct evidence for the upregulation of Vps34 regulated by PKCgamma during short-term treatment with morphine. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)*, 63(5), 365–368. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.20612

Shibasaki, M., Kurokawa, K., Mizuno, K., & Ohkuma, S. (2011). Up-regulation of Ca(v)1.2 subunit via facilitating trafficking induced by Vps34 on morphine-induced place preference in mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 651(1–3), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.11.013

- Shipton, E. A., Shipton, E. E., & Shipton, A. J. (2018). A Review of the Opioid Epidemic: What Do We Do About It? *Pain and Therapy*, 7(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40122-018-0096-7
- Singla, N. K., Skobieranda, F., Soergel, D. G., Salamea, M., Burt, D. A., Demitrack, M. A., & Viscusi, E. R. (2019). APOLLO-2: A Randomized, Placebo and Active-Controlled
  Phase III Study Investigating Oliceridine (TRV130), a G Protein-Biased Ligand at the μ-Opioid Receptor, for Management of Moderate to Severe Acute Pain Following
  Abdominoplasty. *Pain Practice: The Official Journal of World Institute of Pain*, 19(7), 715–731. https://doi.org/10.1111/papr.12801
- Singla, N., Minkowitz, H. S., Soergel, D. G., Burt, D. A., Subach, R. A., Salamea, M. Y.,
  Fossler, M. J., & Skobieranda, F. (2017). A randomized, Phase IIb study investigating oliceridine (TRV130), a novel μ-receptor G-protein pathway selective (μ-GPS) modulator, for the management of moderate to severe acute pain following abdominoplasty. *Journal of Pain Research*, *10*, 2413–2424.
  https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S137952
- Sitbon, P., Van Elstraete, A., Hamdi, L., Juarez-Perez, V., Mazoit, J.-X., Benhamou, D., & Rougeot, C. (2016). STR-324, a Stable Analog of Opiorphin, Causes Analgesia in

Postoperative Pain by Activating Endogenous Opioid Receptor-dependent Pathways. *Anesthesiology*, *125*(5), 1017–1029. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.00000000001320

- Soergel, D. G., Subach, R. A., Burnham, N., Lark, M. W., James, I. E., Sadler, B. M.,
  Skobieranda, F., Violin, J. D., & Webster, L. R. (2014). Biased agonism of the μopioid receptor by TRV130 increases analgesia and reduces on-target adverse effects
  versus morphine: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study in
  healthy volunteers. *Pain*, *155*(9), 1829–1835.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.06.011
- Spahn, V., Del Vecchio, G., Labuz, D., Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi, A., Massaly, N., Temp, J.,
  Durmaz, V., Sabri, P., Reidelbach, M., Machelska, H., Weber, M., & Stein, C. (2017).
  A nontoxic pain killer designed by modeling of pathological receptor conformations. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 355(6328), 966–969.
  https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aai8636
- Spahn, Viola, Del Vecchio, G., Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi, A., Temp, J., Labuz, D., Kloner,
  M., Reidelbach, M., Machelska, H., Weber, M., & Stein, C. (2018). Opioid receptor
  signaling, analgesic and side effects induced by a computationally designed pHdependent agonist. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 8965. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-01827313-4
- Spahn, Viola, Fischer, O., Endres-Becker, J., Schäfer, M., Stein, C., & Zöllner, C. (2013).
  Opioid withdrawal increases transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 activity in a protein kinase A-dependent manner. *Pain*, *154*(4), 598–608.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2012.12.026
- Stein, C., Comisel, K., Haimerl, E., Yassouridis, A., Lehrberger, K., Herz, A., & Peter, K.(1991). Analgesic effect of intraarticular morphine after arthroscopic knee surgery.

The New England Journal of Medicine, 325(16), 1123–1126.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199110173251602

- Stein, Christoph. (2018). New concepts in opioid analgesia. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 27(10), 765–775. https://doi.org/10.1080/13543784.2018.1516204
- Stein, Christoph, & Machelska, H. (2011). Modulation of peripheral sensory neurons by the immune system: implications for pain therapy. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 63(4), 860– 881. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.110.003145
- Stoeber, M., Jullié, D., Lobingier, B. T., Laeremans, T., Steyaert, J., Schiller, P. W., Manglik,
  A., & von Zastrow, M. (2018). A Genetically Encoded Biosensor Reveals Location
  Bias of Opioid Drug Action. *Neuron*, 98(5), 963-976.e5.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.04.021
- Straub, I., Krügel, U., Mohr, F., Teichert, J., Rizun, O., Konrad, M., Oberwinkler, J., & Schaefer, M. (2013). Flavanones that selectively inhibit TRPM3 attenuate thermal nociception in vivo. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 84(5), 736–750. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.113.086843
- Su, X., Joshi, S. K., Kardos, S., & Gebhart, G. F. (2002). Sodium channel blocking actions of the kappa-opioid receptor agonist U50,488 contribute to its visceral antinociceptive effects. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 87(3), 1271–1279. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00624.2001
- Suzuki, H., Sasaki, E., Nakagawa, A., Muraki, Y., Hatano, N., & Muraki, K. (2016).
  Diclofenac, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, is an antagonist of human TRPM3 isoforms. *Pharmacology Research & Perspectives*, 4(3), e00232.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/prp2.232
- Takei, Y., Ando, H., & Tsutsui, K. (2015). *Handbook of Hormones: Comparative Endocrinology for Basic and Clinical Research*. Academic Press.

- Tanowitz, M., Hislop, J. N., & von Zastrow, M. (2008). Alternative splicing determines the post-endocytic sorting fate of G-protein-coupled receptors. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(51), 35614–35621. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M806588200
- Tegeder, I., Meier, S., Burian, M., Schmidt, H., Geisslinger, G., & Lötsch, J. (2003).
  Peripheral opioid analgesia in experimental human pain models. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *126*(Pt 5), 1092–1102.
- The use of opioids for the treatment of chronic pain. A consensus statement from the American Academy of Pain Medicine and the American Pain Society. (1997). *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *13*(1), 6–8.
- Tian, X., Chen, J., Xiong, W., He, T., & Chen, Q. (2009). Effects and underlying mechanisms of human opiorphin on colonic motility and nociception in mice. *Peptides*, 30(7), 1348–1354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2009.04.002
- Trescot, A. M., Boswell, M. V., Atluri, S. L., Hansen, H. C., Deer, T. R., Abdi, S., Jasper, J.
  F., Singh, V., Jordan, A. E., Johnson, B. W., Cicala, R. S., Dunbar, E. E., Helm, S.,
  Varley, K. G., Suchdev, P. K., Swicegood, J. R., Calodney, A. K., Ogoke, B. A.,
  Minore, W. S., & Manchikanti, L. (2006). Opioid guidelines in the management of
  chronic non-cancer pain. *Pain Physician*, 9(1), 1–39.
- Trescot, A. M., Helm, S., Hansen, H., Benyamin, R., Glaser, S. E., Adlaka, R., Patel, S., & Manchikanti, L. (2008). Opioids in the management of chronic non-cancer pain: an update of American Society of the Interventional Pain Physicians' (ASIPP)
  Guidelines. *Pain Physician*, 11(2 Suppl), S5–S62.
- Turk, D. C., Brody, M. C., & Okifuji, E. A. (1994). Physicians' attitudes and practices regarding the long-term prescribing of opioids for non-cancer pain. *Pain*, 59(2), 201– 208.

UNDOC. (2018). World Drug Report 2018 - Analysis of Drug Markets (p. 76). https://www.unodc.org/wdr2018/prelaunch/WDR18\_Booklet\_3\_DRUG\_MARKETS. pdf (Archived at http://www.webcitation.org/77CtcGR1Z)

Van Amsterdam, J., & Van den Brink, W. (2015). The Misuse of Prescription Opioids: A Threat for Europe? *Current Drug Abuse Reviews*, 8(1), 3–14.

Van Elstraete, A., Sitbon, P., Hamdi, L., Juarez-Perez, V., Mazoit, J.-X., Benhamou, D., & Rougeot, C. (2018). The Opiorphin Analog STR-324 Decreases Sensory
Hypersensitivity in a Rat Model of Neuropathic Pain. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, *126*(6), 2102–2111. https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.00000000002413

Vardanyan, A., Wang, R., Vanderah, T. W., Ossipov, M. H., Lai, J., Porreca, F., & King, T.
(2009). TRPV1 receptor in expression of opioid-induced hyperalgesia. *The Journal of Pain: Official Journal of the American Pain Society*, *10*(3), 243–252.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2008.07.004

- Vetter, I., & Lewis, R. J. (2012). Therapeutic potential of cone snail venom peptides (conopeptides). *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, *12*(14), 1546–1552.
- Vetter, I., Wyse, B. D., Monteith, G. R., Roberts-Thomson, S. J., & Cabot, P. J. (2006). The mu opioid agonist morphine modulates potentiation of capsaicin-evoked TRPV1 responses through a cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase A pathway. *Molecular Pain*, 2, 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8069-2-22
- Violin, J. D., & Lefkowitz, R. J. (2007). Beta-arrestin-biased ligands at seven-transmembrane receptors. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 28(8), 416–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2007.06.006
- Viscusi, E. R., Skobieranda, F., Soergel, D. G., Cook, E., Burt, D. A., & Singla, N. (2019). APOLLO-1: a randomized placebo and active-controlled phase III study investigating oliceridine (TRV130), a G protein-biased ligand at the µ-opioid receptor, for

management of moderate-to-severe acute pain following bunionectomy. *Journal of Pain Research*, *12*, 927–943. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S171013

- Viscusi, E. R., Webster, L., Kuss, M., Daniels, S., Bolognese, J. A., Zuckerman, S., Soergel, D. G., Subach, R. A., Cook, E., & Skobieranda, F. (2016). A randomized, phase 2 study investigating TRV130, a biased ligand of the μ-opioid receptor, for the intravenous treatment of acute pain. *Pain*, *157*(1), 264–272. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000363
- Vivier, D., Bennis, K., Lesage, F., & Ducki, S. (2016). Perspectives on the Two-Pore Domain Potassium Channel TREK-1 (TWIK-Related K(+) Channel 1). A Novel Therapeutic Target? *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 59(11), 5149–5157. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b00671
- Vivier, D., Soussia, I. B., Rodrigues, N., Lolignier, S., Devilliers, M., Chatelain, F. C., Prival,
  L., Chapuy, E., Bourdier, G., Bennis, K., Lesage, F., Eschalier, A., Busserolles, J., &
  Ducki, S. (2017). Development of the First Two-Pore Domain Potassium Channel
  TWIK-Related K+ Channel 1-Selective Agonist Possessing in Vivo Antinociceptive
  Activity. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *60*(3), 1076–1088.
  https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b01285
- Voight, E. A., Gomtsyan, A. R., Daanen, J. F., Perner, R. J., Schmidt, R. G., Bayburt, E. K., DiDomenico, S., McDonald, H. A., Puttfarcken, P. S., Chen, J., Neelands, T. R., Bianchi, B. R., Han, P., Reilly, R. M., Franklin, P. H., Segreti, J. A., Nelson, R. A., Su, Z., King, A. J., ... Kort, M. E. (2014). Discovery of (R)-1-(7-chloro-2,2-bis(fluoromethyl)chroman-4-yl)-3-(3-methylisoquinolin-5-yl)urea (A-1165442): a temperature-neutral transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1) antagonist with analgesic efficacy. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *57*(17), 7412–7424. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm500916t

- Volkow, N. D., & McLellan, A. T. (2016). Opioid Abuse in Chronic Pain Misconceptions and Mitigation Strategies. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 374(13), 1253–1263. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1507771
- Vriens, J., Owsianik, G., Hofmann, T., Philipp, S. E., Stab, J., Chen, X., Benoit, M., Xue, F., Janssens, A., Kerselaers, S., Oberwinkler, J., Vennekens, R., Gudermann, T., Nilius, B., & Voets, T. (2011). TRPM3 is a nociceptor channel involved in the detection of noxious heat. *Neuron*, *70*(3), 482–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.051
- Walter, H. J., & Messing, R. O. (1999). Regulation of neuronal voltage-gated calcium channels by ethanol. *Neurochemistry International*, 35(2), 95–101.
- Webster, L., Henningfield, J., Buchhalter, A. R., Siddhanti, S., Lu, L., Odinecs, A., Di Fonzo,
  C. J., & Eldon, M. A. (2018). Human Abuse Potential of the New Opioid Analgesic
  Molecule NKTR-181 Compared with Oxycodone. *Pain Medicine (Malden, Mass.)*,
  19(2), 307–318. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnw344
- Wei, J., Lei, G., Gao, S.-G., Zeng, C., Qin, J., Kong, F., & Yang, T. (2014). Single-dose intraarticular bupivacaine versus morphine after arthroscopic knee surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized-controlled studies. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 30(7), 630–638. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000012
- Wieskopf, J. S., Pan, Y.-X., Marcovitz, J., Tuttle, A. H., Majumdar, S., Pidakala, J.,
  Pasternak, G. W., & Mogil, J. S. (2014). Broad-spectrum analgesic efficacy of
  IBNtxA is mediated by exon 11-associated splice variants of the mu-opioid receptor
  gene. *Pain*, 155(10), 2063–2070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.07.014
- Williams, J. T., Christie, M. J., & Manzoni, O. (2001). Cellular and synaptic adaptations mediating opioid dependence. *Physiological Reviews*, 81(1), 299–343. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.2001.81.1.299

Wisner, A., Dufour, E., Messaoudi, M., Nejdi, A., Marcel, A., Ungeheuer, M.-N., & Rougeot, C. (2006). Human Opiorphin, a natural antinociceptive modulator of opioid-dependent pathways. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(47), 17979–17984. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0605865103

- Witkowski, G., & Szulczyk, P. (2006). Opioid mu receptor activation inhibits sodium currents in prefrontal cortical neurons via a protein kinase A- and C-dependent mechanism. *Brain Research*, 1094(1), 92–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.03.119
- Wu, D., Kang, Y. S., Bickel, U., & Pardridge, W. M. (1997). Blood-brain barrier permeability to morphine-6-glucuronide is markedly reduced compared with morphine. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition: The Biological Fate of Chemicals*, 25(6), 768–771.
- Wu, Z.-Z., Chen, S.-R., & Pan, H.-L. (2004). Differential sensitivity of N- and P/Q-type Ca2+ channel currents to a mu opioid in isolectin B4-positive and -negative dorsal root ganglion neurons. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 311(3), 939–947. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.104.073429
- Xu, J., Faskowitz, A. J., Rossi, G. C., Xu, M., Lu, Z., Pan, Y.-X., & Pasternak, G. W. (2015).
  Stabilization of morphine tolerance with long-term dosing: association with selective upregulation of mu-opioid receptor splice variant mRNAs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(1), 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1419183112
- Xu, J., Lu, Z., Narayan, A., Le Rouzic, V. P., Xu, M., Hunkele, A., Brown, T. G., Hoefer, W.
  F., Rossi, G. C., Rice, R. C., Martínez-Rivera, A., Rajadhyaksha, A. M., Cartegni, L.,
  Bassoni, D. L., Pasternak, G. W., & Pan, Y.-X. (2017). Alternatively spliced mu
  opioid receptor C termini impact the diverse actions of morphine. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *127*(4), 1561–1573. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI88760

- Xu, J., Lu, Z., Xu, M., Rossi, G. C., Kest, B., Waxman, A. R., Pasternak, G. W., & Pan, Y.-X. (2014). Differential Expressions of the Alternatively Spliced Variant mRNAs of the μ
  Opioid Receptor Gene, OPRM1, in Brain Regions of Four Inbred Mouse Strains. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111267
- Xu, J., Xu, M., Brown, T., Rossi, G. C., Hurd, Y. L., Inturrisi, C. E., Pasternak, G. W., & Pan,
  Y.-X. (2013). Stabilization of the μ-opioid receptor by truncated single transmembrane
  splice variants through a chaperone-like action. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*,
  288(29), 21211–21227. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.458687
- Xu, M., Petraschka, M., McLaughlin, J. P., Westenbroek, R. E., Caron, M. G., Lefkowitz, R. J., Czyzyk, T. A., Pintar, J. E., Terman, G. W., & Chavkin, C. (2004). Neuropathic pain activates the endogenous kappa opioid system in mouse spinal cord and induces opioid receptor tolerance. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 24(19), 4576–4584. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5552-03.2004
- Yekkirala, A. S., Lunzer, M. M., McCurdy, C. R., Powers, M. D., Kalyuzhny, A. E., Roerig, S. C., & Portoghese, P. S. (2011). N-naphthoyl-beta-naltrexamine (NNTA), a highly selective and potent activator of µ/kappa-opioid heteromers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(12), 5098–5103. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1016277108
- Yokoyama, K., Kurihara, T., Saegusa, H., Zong, S., Makita, K., & Tanabe, T. (2004).
  Blocking the R-type (Cav2.3) Ca2+ channel enhanced morphine analgesia and reduced morphine tolerance. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(12), 3516–3519. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03810.x

- Zamponi, G. W., & Currie, K. P. M. (2013). Regulation of Ca(V)2 calcium channels by G protein coupled receptors. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 1828(7), 1629–1643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.10.004
- Zou, B., Chen, Y., Wu, C., & Zhou, P. (2000). Blockade of U50488H on sodium currents in acutely isolated mice hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons. *Brain Research*, 855(1), 132–136.
- Zubieta, J.-K., Bueller, J. A., Jackson, L. R., Scott, D. J., Xu, Y., Koeppe, R. A., Nichols, T.
  E., & Stohler, C. S. (2005). Placebo effects mediated by endogenous opioid activity on mu-opioid receptors. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 25(34), 7754–7762. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0439-05.2005











